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Results for announcement to the Market 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
   

1 REPORTING PERIOD (item 1)    

 Report for the financial year ended: 30 June 2018   

 Previous corresponding period is the financial year ended: 30 June 2017   
 

2 RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 
Percentage 

% 

 Amount 

$ 

 Increase in revenues from ordinary activities (item 2.1) N/A to 249,000 

 Increase in loss from ordinary activities after tax attributable to 

members (item 2.2) 13.53 to (3,205,463) 

 Increase in loss from after tax attributable to members (item 2.3) 13.53 to (3,205,463) 
 

a. Dividends (item 2.4)  Amount per 

 Security 

₵ 

Franked amount 

per security  

% 

 Interim dividend  nil n/a 

 Final dividend   nil n/a 

 Record date for determining entitlements to the 

dividend (item 2.5) 
n/a   

 

b. Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above necessary to enable the figures to be understood (item 2.6): 

Thred Ltd recorded its first revenues late in the period, as it began to commercialise its technology. Increased loss 

reflects an increase in activity. 

 

3 PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT    

a. Statement of comprehensive income (item 3): 

Refer to Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 17 

b. Statement of financial position (item 4): 

Refer to Consolidated statement of financial position  on page 18 

c. Statement of cash flows (item 5): 

Refer to Consolidated statement of cash flows on page 20 

d. Statement of changes in equity (item 6): 

Refer to Consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 19 

 

4 DIVIDENDS (item 7) AND RETURNS TO SHAREHOLDERS INCLUDING DISTRIBUTIONS AND BUY BACKS (item 14.2) 

Nil.    

a. Details of dividend or distribution reinvestment plans in operation are described below (item 8): 

Not applicable 
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Results for announcement to the Market 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
   

5 RATIOS 
 

Current 
period 

Previous 
corresponding 

period 

a. Financial Information relating to 5b and 5c: $ $ 

Earnings for the period attributable to Owners of the parent (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 

Net assets 3,192,171 4,001,911 

Less: Intangible assets - - 

Net tangible (liabilities)/assets 3,192,171 4,001,911 

 No. No. 

Fully paid ordinary shares 1,789,390,870 1,149,614,660 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used 

in calculation of basic EPS 
1,230,426,125 868,374,195 

 ₵ ₵ 

b. Net tangible (liability)/assets backing per share (cents) (item 9): 0.178 0.348 

c. Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent (cents) (item 14.1): (0.261) (0.325) 

The Group does not report diluted earnings per share, as dilution is not applied to annual losses generated by the Group. 

During the 2018 financial year the Group had 49,500,000 unissued shares under option which are anti-dilutive. 
 

6 DETAILS OF ENTITIES OVER WHICH CONTROL HAS BEEN GAINED OR LOST DURING THE PERIOD: (item 10) 

a. Control gained over entities  

 Name of entities (item 10.1) Refer 6e 

 Date(s) of gain of control (item 10.2)  Refer 6e 

b. Loss of control of entities  

 Name of entities (item 10.1) Refer 6e 

 Date(s) of gain of control (item 10.2)  Refer 6e 

c. Contribution to consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax by 

the controlled entities to the date(s) in the current period when control was 

gained / lost (item 10.3). 

Nil 

d. Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax of the controlled entities for the 

whole of the previous corresponding period (item 10.3) 

Nil 

e. On 19 October 2017 the Group incorporated Sweep App Pty Ltd and Agent Reality Pty Ltd. Both companies 

remained dormant for the year, and on 29 June 2018 an application to strike-off the Companies was sent to the 

ASIC. This action remains in progress. 
 

7 DETAILS OF ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE: (item 11) 

 Name of entities (item 11.1) Nil 

 Percentage holding in each of these entities (item 11.2)  n/a 

   
 

Current period 
$ 

Previous 
corresponding 

 Period 
$  

 Aggregate share of profits (losses) of these entities (item 11.3)  N/A N/A 
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8 Any other significant information needed by an investor to make an informed assessment of the entity’s financial 

performance and financial position. (item 12): 

Refer to commentary update covering this 4E 

 

9 The financial information provided in the Appendix 4E is based on the preliminary final report (attached), which has been 

prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (item 13) 

 

10 A COMMENTARY ON THE RESULTS FOR THE PERIOD (item 14) 

Refer to commentary included in the Operations review and Directors' report accompanying this 4E. The Group had 

revenue of $249,000 (2017: $-) for the period. 

 

11 The report is based the on the enclosed audited Annual Report (item 15) 
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Operations review 

Thred Limited (ASX: THD) (Thred or the Company present its full year results for the year ending 30 June 2018 (FY17). 

Having joined the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) in June 2016, Thred closes its second full year period with solid 

foundations laid for commercialisation and future growth. The Company reports a Loss before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation (EBITDA) of $3.2 million. 

1. Operational highlights 

As the business has developed, the year to 30 June 2018 brought several operational highlights for Thred; 

 Receipt of $1.6m R&D rebate from FY17 activities 

 First revenues underpinned in particular by our partnership with Vivid Sydney 2018 

 Reduction in operational cash outflows in final quarter as we balanced commercialisation with R&D activity 

 $3.23m in cash at 30 June 2018 

2. Corporate highlights 

 New board and executive teams appointed to manage commercialisation  

 Fully underwritten 1 for 2 entitlements issue at $0.004 raising approximately $2.4m before costs 

The net loss result for FY18 is consistent with a start-up-stage company which is progressing toward commercialisation. 

The Board of Directors would like to thank all investors for their continued support of Thred. 
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Directors' report 

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity, consisting of Thred Limited (Thred or the Company) and its 
controlled entities (collectively the Group), for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

Thred is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  

1. Directors 

The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 

 Mr David Wheeler Non-executive Chair (Appointed on 30 August 2017 and Chair effective 11 September 2017) 

 Mr Hersh Solomon Majteles Non-executive Director 

 Mr Rob James Non-executive Director (Appointed 12 December 2017, Resigned 1 August 2018) 

 Mr Joe Graziano Non-executive Director (Appointed 1 August 2018) 

 Mr Geoff Marshall  Managing Director (Resigned on 15 March 2018) 

 Ms Robyn Foyster Non-executive Director (Resigned on 15 March 2018) 

 Mr Graeme Fear Non-executive Director (Resigned on 30 August 2017) 

 Mr Christopher Adams Executive Director (Resigned on 30 August 2017) 

 Mr David Whitaker Non-executive Director (Resigned on 21 August 2017) 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. For 
additional information of Directors including details of the qualifications of Directors please refer to paragraph 6 Information 
relating to the directors of this Directors Report. 

2. Company secretary 

The following people held the joint position of Company Secretary at the end of the financial year: 

 Mr Damon Sweeny   

Qualifications   Mr Sweeny is a Chartered Secretary and holds an MBA from Curtin University Australia, 
along with a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance from the Governance 
Institute of Australia. 

Experience   With over 25 years’ experience in the mining, accounting and governance fields; Damon 
has held directorships or company secretarial positions in a number of private and ASX-
listed entities for over 10 years. He has a strong management and financial reporting 
background. 

3. Dividends paid or recommended 

There were no dividends paid or recommended during the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

4. Significant Changes in the state of affairs 

There were no significant changes to the state of affairs of the Group 

5. Operating and financial review 

5.1. Nature of Operations Principal Activities 

Thred is the developer of technology platforms and mobile apps specialising in immersive media. 

5.2. Operations Review (refer Operations review of page 1) 

5.3. Financial Review 

a. Operating results 

For the 2018 financial year the Group delivered a loss before tax of $3,205,463 (2017: $2,823,437 loss), representing a 
decline in profitability. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 

business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 
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Directors' report 

b. Financial position 

The net assets of the Group have decreased from 30 June 2018 by $809,740 to $3,192,171 at 30 June 2018 (2017: 

$4,001,911). 

As at 30 June 2018, the Group's cash and cash equivalents decreased from 30 June 2017 by $1,251,724 to $3,226,597 at 

30 June 2018 (2017: $4,478,321) and had working capital of $3,192,171 (2017: $4,001,911 working capital), as noted in 

Note 15d. 

5.4. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date  

There are no other significant after balance date events that are not covered in this Directors' Report or within the 
financial statements at Note 24 Events subsequent to reporting date. 

5.5. Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 

Likely developments, future prospects and business strategies of the operations of the Group and the expected results of 
those operations have not been included in this report as the Directors believe that the inclusion of such information 
would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

5.6. Environmental Regulations 

The Group's operations are not subject to significant environmental regulations in the jurisdictions it operates in, namely 
Australia. 

The Directors have considered the enacted National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (the NGER Act) which 
introduced a single national reporting framework for the reporting and dissemination of information about the 
greenhouse gas emissions, greenhouse gas projects, and energy use and production of corporations. At the current stage 
of development, the Directors have determined that the NGER Act has no effect on the Company for the current, nor 
subsequent, financial year. The Directors will reassess this position as and when the need arises. 

6. Information relating to the directors 

 Mr David Wheeler   Non-executive Chair (Appointed 30 August 2017 and Chair effective 11 September 2017) 

Qualifications  B Fellow AICD, Member Turnaround Management Australia 

Experience   Mr Wheeler has more than 30 years of Senior Executive Management, Corporate Advisory 
and Directorship experience. He is a foundation Director and Partner of Pathways Corporate 
a boutique Corporate Advisory firm that undertakes assignments on behalf of family offices, 
private clients, and ASX listed companies. 

Special responsibilities   Member and Chair of Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  Nil 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Mr Wheeler is currently also a director of: Atilles Oil and Gas NL; Drake Resources Limited, 
Eneabba Gas Limited; Protean Energy Limited; UltraCharge Limited. He is a former director 
of: The Carajas Copper Company Limited, Weststar Industrial Limited; Auscann Group 
Holdings Limited, Premiere Eastern Energy Limited; Ausmex Mining Group Limited; Castillo 
Copper Limited; 333D Limited. 

 Mr Hersh Solomon 
Majteles 

  Non-executive Director 

Qualifications   Mr Majteles is a commercial lawyer and has been in private legal practice since 1972. 

Experience   He has over 35 years’ experience in business, corporate, property and commercial law and 
practice. 

Since 1983 he has been a Director of a number of publicly listed companies involved in the 
mining and exploration for gold, base metals, coal, uranium, oil and gas and in the bio tech 
sector. 

Special responsibilities   Member and served for a period as Chair of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  12,739,856 Ordinary Shares 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Non-Executive Chair of Metals Australia Limited (ASX:MLS) and a Non-Executive Director of 
Scout Security Limited (ASX:SCT). 
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 Mr Rob James   Non-executive Director (Appointed 12 December 2017, Resigned 1 August 2018) 

Qualifications  B Master of Business (eBusiness & Communications) 

Experience   Mr James has significant experience as a Chief Information and Digital leader across the 
public and commercial sectors with specific experience in IT, gaming, entertainment, 
telecommunications, retail and agricultural industries. He is currently the Chief Technology 
Officer of QANTAS Limited, and previously was Chief Information and Product Officer for 
William Hill Australia 

Special responsibilities   Member of Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  Nil 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Nil 

 Mr Joe Graziano   Non-executive Director (Appointed 1 August 2018) 

Qualifications  B Bachelor of Commerce, Accounting & Economics  

Experience   Mr Graziano is a Chartered Accountant with over 25 years’ experience in corporate advisory 
and consulting to listed and unlisted companies in sectors including mining services, 
resources and exploration, and banking and finance. 

Special responsibilities   Member of Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  10,000,000 Ordinary Shares (at date of appointment) 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Current: Kin Mining NL. Former: Lithex Resources Ltd, Castillo Copper Ltd, Oz Brewing Ltd, 
The Carajas Copper Company Ltd. 

 Mr Geoff Marshall   Managing Director (Resigned 15 March 2018) 

Qualifications   BE 

Experience   Mr Marshall provided a valuable blend of experience to Thred, with an extensive record of 
accomplishment spanning more than 25 years with large international companies, coupled 
with solid experience in start-up ventures and ASX-listed board experience. 

Mr Marshall is a former partner with Price Waterhouse and has held senior executive 
positions in Australia with the Mayne Group Ltd, Incitec Ltd, e-Business Systems Ltd and 
Rothmans Holdings Ltd. During an extensive period abroad, Mr Marshall worked for several 
international corporations including Daimler Benz, Unilever, and the Philips Group. 

Special responsibilities   Nil 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  3,501,818 Ordinary Shares (at date of resignation) 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  None 

 Ms Robyn Foyster   Non-executive Director (Resigned 15 March 2018) 

Qualifications  B BA 

Experience   Ms Foyster is the founder and CEO of Foyster Media - a multi-platform media company which 
owns The Carousel, Women Love Tech, and Game Changers. Voted one of B&T's 30 Most 
Powerful Women In Media at the 2015 Women in Media Awards, Ms Foyster is an award-
winning journalist, editor and media executive. She is the former Publisher and Editor of 
Australia's three biggest flagship magazines - The Australian Women's Weekly, Woman's Day 
and New Idea. 

Special responsibilities   Member of Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  Nil 

 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  None 
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 Mr Graeme Fear    Non-executive Director (Resigned 30 August 2017) 

Qualifications   Senior Executive Studies at IMD Lausanne, Switzerland in 1991 and Darden Business 
Administration Program - University of Virginia in 1988/9 

Experience   Mr Fear has over 30 years’ corporate experience, including multiple CEO tenures. Mr Fear is a 
judge in the Telstra Women’s Business Awards, as well as an award-winning TEC (The 
Executive Connection) Chair. 

Special responsibilities   Member of Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  790,000 Ordinary Shares (at date of resignation) 

 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  None 

 Mr David Whitaker   CIO and Executive Director (Resigned on 21 August 2017) 

Experience   Mr Whitaker is a tech entrepreneur with extensive expertise in building digital businesses. 
After 17 years in IT & digital recruitment, Mr Whitaker has founded and built businesses 
spanning mobile apps to group buying to digital agencies. Mr Whitaker has built successful 
businesses in both Australia and the Asia Pacific which have expanded into Singapore, 
Shanghai and the Philippines. He has been responsible for negotiating and winning outsource 
contracts, such as for HSBC Investment Bank and has provided strategic counsel to brands 
such as SAB Miller, Yahoo and Macquarie Bank. Originally from Australia, David has lived in 
Hong Kong for 10 years. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  208,200,000 Ordinary Shares (at date of resignation) 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  None 

 Mr Christopher Adams   Executive Director (Resigned 30 August 2017) 

Qualifications   MFA, BA 

Experience   Mr Adams is an internationally recognised digital strategist, social media pioneer, adviser and 
technology executive with over twenty years’ experience in accelerating businesses. In 2006, 
Mr Adams was asked by Facebook, then a fledgling social media network, to integrate video 
onto its platform. This was a pivotal moment in Facebook’s consolidation of its brand and 
user experience, and was followed by the acclaimed reality TV series “Facebook Diaries”, 
which Mr Adams produced and which was launched on Facebook.  

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  18,000,000 Ordinary Shares (at date of resignation) 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Manalto Ltd (ASX Code: MTL) and Spiral Toys (OTCBB: STOY) 

7. Meetings of directors and committees 

During the financial year eight meetings of Directors (including committees of Directors) were held. Attendances by each 
Director during the year are stated in the following table. 

 DIRECTORS'  

MEETINGS 

REMUNERATION AND 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

FINANCE AND OPERATIONS  

COMMITTEE 

AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 

 Number 
eligible to 

attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
eligible to  

attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
eligible to  

attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
eligible to  

attend  
Number 

Attended 

David Wheeler 6 6 2 2 At the date of this report, the Audit, Nomination, 

and Finance and Operations Committees comprise 

the full Board of Directors. The Directors believe the 

Company is not currently of a size nor are its affairs 

of such complexity as to warrant the establishment 

of these separate committees. Accordingly, all 

matters capable of delegation to such committees 

are considered by the full Board of Directors.  

Hersh Solomon Majteles 8 7 3 3 

Rob James 3 2 1 1 

Geoff Marshall 6 6 Nil N/a 

Robyn Foyster 6 6 3 3 

David Whitaker 2 1 Nil N/a 

Christopher Adams 2 2 Nil N/a 

Graeme Fear 2 2 1 1 
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8. Indemnifying officers or auditor 

8.1. Indemnification 

The Company has entered an Indemnity, Insurance and Access Deed with each Director. Pursuant to the Deed: 

The Director is indemnified by the Company against any liability incurred in that capacity as an officer of the 
Company to the maximum extent permitted by law subject to certain exclusions. 

The Company must keep a complete set of company documents until the later of: 

a. The date which is seven years after the Director ceases to be an officer of the Company; and 

b. The date after a final judgment or order has been made in relation to any hearing, conference, dispute, enquiry or 
investigation in which the Director is involved as a party, witness or otherwise because the Director is or was an 
officer of the Company (Relevant Proceedings). 

The Director has the right to inspect and copy a Company document in connection with any relevant proceedings 
during the period referred to above. 

Subject to the next sentence, the Company must maintain an insurance policy insuring the Director against liability as a 
director and officer of the Company while the Director is an officer of the Company and until the later of: 

a. The date which is seven years after the Director ceases to be an officer of the Company; and 

b. The date any Relevant Proceedings commenced before the date referred to above have been finally resolved. 

The Company may cease to maintain the insurance policy if the Company reasonably determines that the type of 
coverage is no longer available. 

The Company has not entered into any agreement with its current auditors indemnifying them against any claims by third 
parties arising from their report on the financial report. 

8.2. Insurance premiums 

During the year the Company paid insurance premiums to insure directors and officers against certain liabilities arising 
out of their conduct while acting as an officer of the Group. In accordance with the policy, the amount of the premium 
cannot be disclosed. 

9. Options 

9.1. Unissued shares under option 

At the date of this report, the un-issued ordinary shares of Thred Limited under option (listed and unlisted) are as follows: 

 Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under 
Option 

 

 5 Dec 2016 27 Feb 2020 $0.05 20,000,000  

 2 May 2017 9 May 2020 $0.05 20,000,000  

 30 April 2017 9 May 2020 $0.02 9,500,000  

    49,500,000  

No person entitled to exercise the option has or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of 
any other body corporate. 

9.2. Shares issued on exercise of options 

10,700,000 ordinary shares were issued by the Company on 13 April 2018 as a result of the exercise of options. 

No other ordinary shares were issued by the Company as a result of the exercise of options during or since the end of the 
financial year. 

10. Non-audit services 

During the year, Bentleys, the Company’s auditor, did not perform any services other than their statutory audits (2017: $nil). 
Details of remuneration paid to the auditor can be found within the financial statements at Note 5 Auditor's Remuneration. 
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In the event that non-audit services are provided by Bentleys, the Board has established certain procedures to ensure that the 
provision of non-audit services are compatible with, and do not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. These procedures include: 

 non-audit services will be subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and will be reviewed 
by the Board to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 ensuring non-audit services do not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or 
decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

11. Proceedings on behalf of company 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to 
which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those 
proceedings. 

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

12. Auditor's independence declaration 

The lead auditor's independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the year ended  
30 June 2018 has been received and can be found on page 16 of the annual report. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT 

13. Remuneration report (audited) 

The information in this remuneration report has been audited as required by s308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.  

13.1. Key management personnel (KMP) 

KMP have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. KMP comprise 
the directors of the Company and key executive personnel: 

 Mr David Wheeler Non-Executive Chair (Appointed 30 August 2017, Chair effective 11 September 2017) 

 Mr Hersh Solomon Majteles Non-executive Director 

 Mr Rob James Non-executive Director (Appointed 12 December 2017, Resigned 1 August 2018) 

 Mr Geoff Marshall Managing Director (Resigned 15 March 2018) 

 Ms Robyn Foyster Non-executive Director (Resigned 15 March 2018) 

 Mr Graeme Fear Non-executive Director (Resigned 30 August 2017) 

 Mr Christopher Adams Executive Director (Resigned 30 August 2017) 

 Mr David Whitaker Non-executive Director (Resigned 21 August 2017) 

13.2. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The remuneration policy of the Company has been designed to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate to the result delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the creation of value for shareholders, 
and conforms to market best practice. The Board ensures that Director and executive reward satisfies the following key 
criteria for good reward government practices: 

 Competitiveness and reasonableness; 

 Acceptability to the shareholder; 

 Performance;  

 Transparency; and  

 Capital management. 

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase the direct positive relationship between shareholders' investment 
objectives and Directors' and Executives' performance. Currently, this may be facilitated through the issue of options to 
Directors and Executives to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The Company believes this 
policy will be effective in increasing shareholder wealth. The Board's policy for determining the nature and amount of 
remuneration for Board members and Senior Executive of the Company is as follows: 

a. Executive Directors and other Senior Executives 

The Company’s remuneration policy for executive directors and senior management is designed to promote superior 
performance and long-term commitment to the Company. Executives receive a base remuneration which is market 
related, and may receive performance-based remuneration. The Board reviews Executive packages annually by 
reference to the Company's performance, executive performance, and comparable information from industry sectors 
and other listed companies in similar industries. Executives are also entitled to participate in employee share and 
option schemes. An Incentive Option Plan was approved by shareholders on 10 April 2017. 

b. Non-Executive Directors  

The Company's Constitution provides that Directors are entitled to be remunerated for their services as follows: 

 The total aggregate fixed sum per annum to be paid to the Directors (excluding salaries of executive Directors) 
from time to time will not exceed the sum determined by the Shareholders in general meeting and the total 
aggregate fixed sum will be divided between the Directors as the Directors shall determine and, in default of 
agreement between them, then in equal shares. 

 The Directors' remuneration accrues from day to day.  

 The total aggregate fixed sum per annum which may be paid to non-executive Directors is $300,000. This amount 
cannot be increased without the approval of the Company's Shareholders. 

The Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses incurred by them 
respectively in or about the performance of their duties as Directors. 

c. Fixed Remuneration  

Other than statutory superannuation contribution, no retirement benefits are provided for Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company. To align Directors' interests with shareholder interests, the Directors are encouraged to hold 
shares in the company. 
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d. Performance Based Remuneration – Short-term and long-term incentive structure 

The Board will review short-term and long-term incentive structures from time to time. Any incentive structure will be 
aligned with shareholders' interests 

 Short-term incentives 

No short-term incentives in the form of cash bonuses were granted to directors during the year.  

 Long-term incentives 

The Board has a policy of granting incentive options to executives with exercise prices above market share price. 
As such, incentive options granted to executives will generally only be of benefit if the executives perform to the 
level whereby the value of the Group increases sufficiently to warrant exercising the incentive options granted.  

The executive Directors will be eligible to participate in any short term and long-term incentive arrangements operated 
or introduced by the Company (or any subsidiary) from time to time. 

e. Service Contracts 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the directors, KMP and the company secretary are formalised in 
contracts of employment. 

f. Engagement of Remuneration Consultants  

During the financial year, the Company did not engage any remuneration consultants. 

g. Relationship between Remuneration of KMP and Earnings 

As the Group is in the early stages of development and commercialisation, the Board did not consider earnings during the 
current and previous financial years when determining the nature and amount of remuneration of KMP.  

13.3. Directors and KMP remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and KMP of the Group (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) are 
set out in the following table. 

 
 

 

2018 – Group 

 

Group KMP 

Short-term benefits Post-  

employment  

benefits 

Long-term  

benefits 

Termination 

benefits 

Equity-settled share- 

based payments 

  Total 

Salary, fees 

and leave 

Profit share 

and bonuses 

Non-

monetary 

Other Super- 

annuation 

Other Equity Options  

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

David Wheeler 60,323 - - - - - - - - 60,323 

Hersh Solomon Majteles 37,874 - - - 7,371 - - - - 45,245 

Rob James 22,001 - - - - - - - - 22,001 

Geoff Marshall 228,540 - - - 20,287 - 60,000 - - 308,827 

Robyn Foyster 29,802 - - - - - - - - 29,802 

Graeme Fear 7,665 - - - - - - - - 7,665 

Christopher Adams 35,000 - - - - - - - - 35,000 

David Whitaker 66,902 - - - 6,356 - - - - 73,258 

 488,107 - - - 34,014 - 60,000 - - 582,121 
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2017 – Group 

 

Group KMP 

Short-term benefits Post-  

employment  

benefits 

Long-term  

benefits 

Termination 
benefits 

Equity-settled share- 

based payments 

  Total 

Salary, fees 
and leave 

Profit share 
and bonuses 

Non-
monetary 

Other Super- 
annuation 

Other Equity Options  

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Geoff Marshall 144,695 - - - 10,542 - - - - 155,237 

David Whitaker 200,000 - - - 19,000 - - - - 219,000 

Christopher Adams 177,500 - - - - - - - - 177,500 

Hersh Solomon Majteles 31,000 - - - 2,945 - - - - 33,945 

Graeme Fear 24,490 - - - - - - - - 24,490 

Robyn Foyster 9,566 - - - - - - - - 9,566 

Christopher Jones 186,667 - - - - - - - - 186,667 

Ananda Kathiravelu - - - - - - - - - - 

 773,918 - - - 32,487 - - - - 806,405 

 

13.4. Service Agreements 

a. Non-executive Director appointment letter with Mr David Wheeler 

The Company entered into a letter agreement dated 29 August 2017 with Mr Wheeler in respect to appointment as Non-
executive Director. His appointment as a Non-Executive Director will terminate on the date he retires by rotation under 
the Company’s Constitution but will continue for further terms if he is re-elected at future annual general meetings. 

Mr Wheeler was elected Chair by the board of directors on 11 September 2017. In consideration for his services as a 
Chair, the board set a monthly fee of $5,000 inclusive of superannuation if applicable.  In addition, Mr Wheeler will be 
entitled to participate in the Company’s Incentive Option Plan (no awards were made during the period). 

If Mr Wheeler is required to perform services for the Company that are outside the scope of his ordinary duties as a 
Director, the Company may pay him for those services in addition to the remuneration outlined above. Mr Wheeler was 
paid a fee of $1,000 for each month he was a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, exclusive of 
superannuation. 

b. Non-executive Director appointment letter with Mr Hersh Solomon Majteles 

The Company entered into a letter agreement dated 14 March 2016 with Mr Majteles in respect to appointment as Non-
executive Director and Chair of the Company with effect from completion of the Acquisition. Mr Majteles’s stepped down 
as Chair on 18 July 2017 and his appointment as a Non-Executive Director will terminate on the date he retires by 
rotation under the Company’s Constitution but will continue for further terms if he is re-elected at future annual general 
meetings. 

In consideration for his services as a Non-executive Director, the board set a monthly fee of $3,000 inclusive of 
superannuation if applicable. In addition, Mr Majteles will be entitled to participate in the Company’s Incentive Option 
Plan (no awards were made during the period). 

If Mr Majteles is required to perform services for the Company that are outside the scope of his ordinary duties as a 
Director, the Company may pay him for those services in addition to the remuneration outlined above. 

c. Non-executive Director appointment letter with Mr Rob James (resigned 1 August 2018)) 

The Company entered into a letter agreement dated 12 December 2017 with Mr James in respect to appointment as 
Non-executive Director. His appointment as a Non-executive Director will terminated on the date resigned, 1 August 
2018. 

In consideration for his services as a Non-executive Director, the board set a monthly fee of $2,738 inclusive of 
superannuation if applicable.  In addition, Mr James was entitled to participate in the Company’s Incentive Option Plan. 

If Mr James was also paid a fee of $1,000 for each month he was a member of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, exclusive of superannuation. 
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d. Non-executive Director appointment letter and Deed of Employment (Deed) with Mr Geoff Marshall   
(Resigned 15 March 2018) 

The Company entered into a letter agreement dated 14 July 2016 with Mr Marshall in respect to appointment as Non-
executive Director and Chair of the Company. The appointment was effective 18 July 2016. 

In consideration for his services as a non-executive Director, Mr Marshall was paid an annual fee of $55,000 inclusive of 
superannuation. In addition, Mr Marshall will be entitled to participate in any employee share option scheme which the 
Company may adopt in the future, subject to any requisite Shareholder approvals. 

The Company entered into a Deed with Mr Marshall on 2 December 2016 appointing him as Managing Director on the 
following terms: 

 base annual salary was amended to $240,000 plus superannuation at 9.5% reviewed in June of each year; 

 a discretionary bonus may be awarded, subject to terms determined by the Board each year (no bonus was awarded 
during the period). 

The Deed is governed by the laws of Western Australia, became effective 15 January 2017 and has no set term. 

Mr Marshall was eligible to participate in any long-term incentive arrangements of the Company from time to time (none 
were awarded during his employment) and was reimbursed for all reasonable business-related expenses properly 
incurred in the discharge of his duties.  

Mr Marshall was entitled to National Employment Standards (NES) minimum employment entitlements. 

Under the Deed, intellectual property rights created within the scope of Mr Marshall’s employment and during his usual 
work hours are the Company’s property. 

Mr Marshall’s executive role was made redundant on 15 March 2018, and he resigned from his office as Director on that 
date. The agreement was terminated by Thred on the required written notice on 21 May 2018. Mr Marshall is restrained 
from competing with the Company’s business during the term of the Deed and for a period of 12 months after 
termination of his employment under the Deed. 

e. Non-executive Director appointment letter with Ms Robyn Foyster 
(Resigned 15 March 2018) 

The Company entered into a letter agreement dated 23 March 2017 with Ms Foyster in respect to appointment as Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 27 March 2017 and terminated on the date Ms Foyster resigned, 15 
March 2018. 

In consideration for her services as a non-executive Director, Ms Foyster was paid an annual fee of $32,850 inclusive of 
superannuation. Ms Foyster was also paid a fee of $1,000 for each month she was a member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee, exclusive of superannuation. Ms Foyster did not participate in the Company’s Incentive Option 
Plan. 

f. Non-executive Director appointment letter with Mr Graeme Fear 
(Resigned 30 August 2017) 

The Company entered into a letter agreement dated 14 October 2016, and letter of variation dated 2 December 2016, 
with Mr Fear in respect to appointment as Non-executive Director of the Company. The appointment was effective  
14 October 2016 and terminated on the date Mr Fear resigned, 30 August 2017. 

In consideration for his services as a non-executive Director, Mr Fear was paid an annual fee of $32,850 inclusive of 
superannuation. Mr Fear was also paid a fee of $1,000 for each month he was a member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee, exclusive of superannuation. Mr Fear did not participate in the Company’s Incentive Option Plan. 
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g. Non-executive Director appointment letter with Mr Christopher Adams  
(Resigned on 30 August 2017) 

By a letter agreement dated October 2015, the Company appointed Christopher Adams as a Non-executive Director of 
the Company with effect from 14 June 2016. The appointment terminated on the date Mr Jones resigned, 30 August 
2017. 

By a letter of variation dated 4 December 2016 where Mr Adams agreed an executive role (see below), in consideration 
for his services as a Non-executive Director, the Company agreed to pay Mr Adams $0 in director fees from the date of 
appointment until stepping down from executive to non-executive on 15 January 2017. From that date a fee of $2,500 
plus GST per month would be paid, exclusive of superannuation. Mr Adams did not participate in the Company’s 
Incentive Option Plan. 

Where Mr Adams was required to perform services for the Company that are outside the scope of his ordinary duties as a 
Director, the Company would pay him for those services in addition to the remuneration outlined above. 

h. Consultancy Agreements with Orbit Media Group Pty Ltd (OMG) 

The Company and OMG (an entity controlled by Mr Adams) entered into a consulting agreement dated 12 May 2015 (as 
varied by deed dated 14 March 2016, and letter of variation dated 4 December 2016), pursuant to which OMG is engaged 
to provide a range of strategic, marketing and commercial advice to the Company. 

In consideration for the provision of the services of Mr Adams as Interim CEO to the Company from 4 October 2016 to 14 
January 2017, OMG will invoice the Company a fee of up to $25,000 plus GST per month. From 15 January 2017 the 
Company will pay an advisory fee of $7,500 plus GST per month. 

The agreement was terminated by Thred on the required 2 months written notice on 1 September 2017. 

The agreement is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia. 

i. Executive Employment Agreement (EEA) with Mr David Whitaker  
(Resigned on 21 August 2017) 

The Company entered into an EEA with Mr Whitaker on the following terms: 

 base annual salary of $200,000 plus superannuation at 9.5%; 

 a discretionary bonus, subject to achievement of various key performance indicators as determined by the Board for 
each financial quarter (no bonus was awarded during the period); 

 private health insurance cover (including for Mr Whitaker’s dependent family members); and 

 a laptop, tablet and mobile phone. 

The EEA is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia and was in effect up to the date of Mr Whitaker’s 
resignation on 22 August 2017. 

Mr Whitaker was eligible to participate in any long-term incentive arrangements of the Company from time to time (none 
were awarded during his employment) and was reimbursed for all reasonable business-related expenses properly 
incurred in the discharge of his duties.  

Mr Whitaker was entitled to National Employment Standards (NES) minimum employment entitlements. 

Under the EEA, intellectual property rights created within the scope of Mr Whitaker’s employment and during his usual 
work hours are the Company’s property. 

Mr Whitaker is restrained from competing with the Company’s business during the term of the EEA and for a period of 12 
months after termination of his employment under the EEA. 

13.5. Share-based compensation 

No options were granted to the Directors during the year ended 30 June 2018 as part of their remuneration.  

There were no equity instruments issued during the year to Directors as a result of options exercised that had previously 
been granted as compensation. 

a. Securities Received that are not performance-related 

No members of KMP are entitled to receive securities that are not performance-based as part of their remuneration package. 

b. Options and Rights Granted as Remuneration  

No options or rights were granted as remuneration during 2018 (2017: nil). 
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13.6. KMP equity holdings 

a. Fully paid ordinary shares of Thred Limited held by each KMP 

2018 – Group  
 
Group KMP 

Balance at 
start of year 

No.  

Received during 

the year as 
compensation 

No. 

Received during 
the year on 

the exercise of 
options 

No. 

Received during 
the year on 

conversion of 

performance 
shares 

No. 

Other changes 
 during the year  

No. 

Balance at  
end of year 

No. 

David Wheeler - - - - - - 

Hersh Solomon Majteles(1)  8,493,237 - - - 4,246,619 12,739,856 

Rob James - - - - - - 

Geoff Marshall(1) 1,558,961 - - - (1,558,961) - 

Robyn Foyster - - - - - - 

Graeme Fear(3) 790,000 - - - (790,000) - 

Christopher Adams(3) 18,000,000 - - - (18,000,000) - 

David Whitaker(4) 208,200,000 - - - (208,200,000) - 

 237,042,198 - - - (224,302,342) 12,739,856 
 

(1)
 Other changes represent the number of shares acquired by Mr Matjeles taking up his full rights in the Company’s Non-Renounceable 

Entitlement Offer dated 9 April 2018. 
(2)

 Other changes represent the net effect of the of the 1,942,857 shares bought on-market during the period and the reversal of the number 

of shares held by Mr Marshall at date of his resignation, 15 March 2018. 
(3)

 Other changes represent the number of shares held by Messrs Fear and Adams at date of their resignation, 30 August 2017. 
(4)

 Other changes represent the number of shares held by Mr Whitaker at date of his resignation, 21 August 2017. 
 

 

 

 

 

2017 – Group  
 
Group KMP Balance at 

start of year 

No.  

Held at the 

date of 

reverse 

acquisition 

No. 

Received during 

the year as 

compensation 

No. 

Received during 

the year on 

the exercise of 

options 

No. 

Other changes 

 during the year  

No. 

Balance at  

end of year 

No. 

Geoff Marshall(1) - - - - 1,558,961 1,558,961 

David Whitaker (1) 182,500,000 - - 25,200,000 500,000 208,200,000 

Christopher Adams(1) 15,500,000   2,400,000 100,000 18,000,000 

Hersh Solomon Majteles(1) 6,419,250 - - - 2,073,987 8,493,237 

Graeme Fear(1) - - - - 790,000 790,000 

Robyn Foyster - - - - - - 

Christopher Jones(2) 52,500,000 - -  (52,500,000) - 

Ananda Kathiravelu(3) 12,819,329 - - - (12,819,329) - 

 269,738,579 - - 27,600,000 (60,296,381) 237,042,198 
 

(1)
 Other changes during the year relate to acquisitions and disposals for Directors and their related parties. 

(2)
 Other changes represent the number of shares held by Mr Jones at date of his retirement, 17 November 2016. 

(3)
 Other changes represent the number of shares held by Mr Kathiravelu at date of his retirement, 18 July 2016. 
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b. Performance shares in Thred Limited held by each KMP 

2018 – Group 

There were no performance shares on issue during the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

 

 

2017 – Group  
 

Group KMP 
Balance at 

start of year 

No. 

Granted as 

Remuneration 

during the year 

No. 

Converted 

during the year(1) 

No. 

Other changes 

during the year 

No. 

Balance at 

end of year 

No. 

Vested and 

convertible 

No. 

Not Vested 

No. 

Geoff Marshall - - - - - - - 

David Whitaker(2) 117,600,000 - (25,200,000) (92,400,000) - - - 

Christopher Adams(2) 11,200,000 - (2,400,000) (8,800,000) - - - 

Hersh Solomon 

Majteles 

- - - - 
- - - 

Graeme Fear - - - - - - - 

Robyn Foyster - - - - - - - 

Christopher Jones(3) 11,200,000 - - (11,200,000) - - - 

Ananda Kathiravelu(4) 7,000,000 - - (7,000,000) - - - 

 147,000,000 - (27,600,000) (119,400,000) - - - 

 

(1)
 On 12 September 2016, Milestone 1: Launch of the Thred mobile phone app within a period of 90 days from 14 June 2016 was satisfied 

within the requisite period and 31,500,000 performance shares accordingly converted into ordinary shares on 29 November 2016 at an 

issue price of $0.05 per share. The Company had previously disclosed a share-based payment expense in respect to this this Tranche of 

$1,417,500. Accordingly, the difference between the carrying value of $1,417,500 and the issue price of $1,575,000 of $157,500 has been 

recorded as a share-based payment expense in the period. 
(2)

 Other change during the year related to the lapse of performance shares as disclosed in Note 17a.i(8). 
(3)

 Other changes during the year represent the number of performance shares held by Mr Jones at date of his retirement, 17 November 

2016. 
(4)

 Other changes during the year represent the number of performance shares held by Mr Kathiravelu at date of his retirement, 18 July 2016. 
 

c. Options in Thred Limited held by each KMP 

2018 – Group  
 

Group KMP 
Balance at 

start of year 

No. 

Granted as 

Remuneration 

during the year 

No. 

Exercised 

during the year 

No. 

Other changes 

during the year 

No. 

Balance at 

end of year 

No. 

Vested and 

Exercisable 

No. 

Not Vested 

No. 

Geoff Marshall - - - - - - - 

David Whitaker  - - - - - - - 

Christopher Adams - - - - - - - 

Hersh Solomon 

Majteles 
- - - - - - - 

Graeme Fear - - - - - - - 

Robyn Foyster - - - - - - - 

Christopher Jones - - - - - - - 

Ananda Kathiravelu(1) - - - - - - - 

 - - - - - - - 
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2017 – Group  
 
Group KMP 

Balance at 

start of year 

No. 

Granted as 

Remuneration 

during the year 

No. 

Exercised 

during the year 

No. 

Other changes 

during the year 

No. 

Balance at 

end of year 

No. 

Vested and 

Exercisable 

No. 

Not Vested 

No. 

Geoff Marshall - - - - - - - 

David Whitaker  - - - - - - - 

Christopher Adams - - - - - - - 

Hersh Solomon 

Majteles 
- - - - - - - 

Graeme Fear - - - - - - - 

Robyn Foyster - - - - - - - 

Christopher Jones - - - - - - - 

Ananda Kathiravelu(1) 76,500,000 - - (76,500,000) - - - 

 76,500,000 - - (76,500,000) - - - 
 

(1)
 Other changes during the year represent the number of options held by Mr Kathiravelu at date of his retirement, 18 July 2016. Other 

change during the year related to the expiring of options. The options expired on 30 May 2017. 
 

 
 

13.7. Other Equity-related KMP Transactions 

There have been no other transactions involving equity instruments other than those described in the tables above 
relating to options, rights and shareholdings. 

13.8. KMP Loans 

13.9. Other transactions with KMP and or their Related Parties 

During the 2018 financial year, the Group incurred the following amounts to related parties: 

 Antler Legal  $nil (2017: $5,000) 

 Foyster Media Pty Ltd $100,799 (2017: $42,945) 

Refer also Note 19 Related party transactions. 

END OF REMUNERATION REPORT 

 

This Report of the Directors, incorporating the Remuneration Report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors 
made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

 

 

 

 

 

DAVID WHEELER 

Chairman 

Dated this Wednesday, 29 August 2018 

  

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had no loans with KMP. 

 Loan payable to Mr Whitaker of $nil (2017: $29,263) 

    Loan receivable from Mr Kathiravelu $nil (2017: $5,000) 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To The Board of Directors 
 

 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 
 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Thred Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
there have been no contraventions of: 

 the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; and 

 any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours faithfully 

 

  
BENTLEYS DOUG BELL CA 
Chartered Accountants Partner 
 
 
Dated at Perth this 29th day of August 2018 
 
 
 



THRED LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES  30 June 2018 

ABN 36 124 541 466  
 

 P a g e  | 17 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
   

 
Note 2018 

$ 

 2017 

 $ 

Continuing operations    

Revenue 3 249,000 - 

Research and Development rebate  1,587,865 - 

Other income 3 38,518 (38,974) 

  1,875,383 (38,974) 

Compliance costs  (76,924) (122,588) 

Development expenses  (1,063,593) (2,974,074) 

Employment costs 4 (1,964,701) (1,057,949) 

Finance costs  (1,434) (27,370) 

Information technology costs  (110,775) (31,081) 

Legal expenses  (88,802) (97,499) 

Occupancy costs  (116,086) (20,013) 

Product and User Acquisition expenses  (441,594) - 

Professional fees  (735,394) (1,403,300) 

Public relations, marketing and advertising  (115,571) (367,639) 

Net share-based payments (expensed) / lapsed 17 (214,200) 3,639,749 

Travel and accommodation  (116,453) (187,535) 

Other expenses   (35,257) (133,416) 

Foreign exchange loss  (62) (1,748) 

Loss before tax  (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 

Income tax expense 6 - - 

Net loss for the year  (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax    

 Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 

 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

 Foreign currency movement  4,545 (25,163) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  4,545 (25,163) 

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the parent entity  (3,200,918) (2,848,600) 

Loss for the period attributable to:    

 Non-controlling interest  - - 

 Owners of the parent  (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

 Non-controlling interest  - - 

 Owners of the parent  (3,200,918) (2,848,600) 

Earnings per share:  ₵ ₵ 

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 7 (0.26) (0.33) 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
as at 30 June 2018 
 

 Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 3,226,597 4,478,321 

Trade and other receivables 9 295,665 205,758 

Financial assets 11 - - 

Other current assets 10 12,848 16,308 

Total current assets  3,535,110 4,700,387 

Total assets  3,535,110 4,700,387 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 13 329,901 673,506 

Provisions 14 13,038 24,970 

Total current liabilities  342,939 698,476 

Total liabilities  342,939 698,476 

Net assets  3,192,171 4,001,911 

Equity    

Issued capital 15a 35,758,537 33,358,269 

Performance shares 15b - - 

Reserves 16 771,955 776,500 

Accumulated losses  (33,338,324) (30,132,861) 

Non-controlling interest     3    3 

Total equity  3,192,171 4,001,911 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2016   24,176,632 6,063,750 1,496,988 (40,588) (28,806,412) 3 2,890,373 

Loss for the year attributable owners of the parent   - - - - (2,823,437) - (2,823,437) 

Other comprehensive income for the period attributable owners of the parent   - - - (25,163) - - (25,163) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable owners of the parent   - - - (25,163) (2,823,437) - (2,848,600) 

Transaction with owners, directly in equity           

Shares issued during the year   15a 8,193,084 - - - - - 8,193,084 

Performance shares and Options lapsed/expired during the year 
 
15b, 17a.i(8), 

17a.ii(3) 
- (4,488,750) (1,496,988) - 1,496,988 - 

(4,488,750) 

Performance shares converted during the year  15b,17a.i(7)  1,575,000 (1,575,000)  - - - - 

Options issued during the year 
 
15c, 17a.i(2) 

to 17a.i(5) - - 842,251 - - - 842,251 

Transaction costs  15a (586,447) - - - - - (586,447) 

Balance at 30 June 2017   33,358,269 - 842,251 (65,751) (30,132,861)    3 4,001,911 

          

Balance at 1 July 2017   33,358,269 - 842,251 (65,751) (30,132,861)    3 4,001,911 
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Other comprehensive income for the year attributable owners of the parent   - - - (4,545) - - (4,545) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable owners of the parent   - - - (4,545) (3,205,463) - (3,210,008) 
          

Transaction with owners, directly in equity           

Shares issued during the year   15a 2,588,105 - - - - - 2,588,105 

Options issued during the year  15c - - 64,202 - - - 64,202 

Options exercised during the year  15a,15c 64,202 - (64,202) - - - - 

Transaction costs  15a (252,039) - - - - - (252,039) 

Balance at 30 June 2018   35,758,537 - 842,251 (70,296) (33,338,324)    3 3,192,171 

      0       

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 

Note 2018 

$ 

  2017 

 $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  50,600 - 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (3,509,650) (1,859,223) 

Payments for research and development  (1,578,749) (4,012,437) 

Research and development grants received  1,587,865 - 

Reverse acquisition transaction costs  - (256,281) 

Net cash used in operating activities 8d.i (3,449,934) (6,127,941) 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from disposal of subsidiary  - 466,827 

Loans provided to directors  - (80,715) 

Repayment of loan to director  - 86,884 

Proceeds from disposal of investments  - 53,922 

Interest received  34,694 13,994 

Net cash used in investing activities  34,694 540,912 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares  2,379,856 6,965,906 

Payments for capital raising costs  (216,340) (124,490) 

Repayment of loans from director  - (20,468) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  2,163,516 6,820,948 

Net increase in cash held  (1,251,724) 1,233,919 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
 

4,478,321 3,244,402 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  - 8b 3,226,597 4,478,321 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  

 

.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

Note  1 Statement of significant accounting policies 

These are the consolidated financial statements and notes of Thred Limited (Thred or the Company) and controlled entities 
(collectively the Group). Thred is a company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. 

The separate financial statements of Thred, as the parent entity, have not been presented with this financial report as 
permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

a. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these financial statements are presented below. They have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 

i. Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AAS Board) and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) set out accounting policies that the AAS Board has concluded would result in a 
financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to which they apply. 
Compliance with AASBs ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with IFRS as issued by the IASB.  

ii. Reverse acquisition 

Thred (formerly Promesa Ltd) is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The Company completed the legal acquisition 
of Thredit Limited (Thredit) on 14 June 2016.  

Thredit Limited (the legal subsidiary) was deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes as it has obtained control 
over the operations of the legal acquirer Thred (accounting subsidiary). Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements 
of Thred have been prepared as a continuation of the financial statements of Thredit Limited. Thredit Limited (as the 
deemed acquirer) has accounted for the acquisition of Thred from 14 June 2016.  

iii. Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
These estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Judgements made by management in the application of AASBs that have significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 1o. 

iv. Comparative figures 

Where required by AASBs comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation for the current 
financial year. 

Where the Group retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement or reclassifies items in its 
financial statements, an additional (third) statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period in 
addition to the minimum comparative financial statements is presented. 

b. New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group 

i. AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Group has elected to early adopt AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as issued by the AAS Board from 1 
January 2018 under the full retrospective approach. In accordance with the transition provisions in AASB 15 the new rules 
have been adopted retrospectively. There is no restatement of the comparatives as there was no revenue from contracts 
with customers in the prior period. 

AASB 15 outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and 
replaces the revenue recognition requirements outlined in AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 Construction Contracts. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 29 August 2018 by the directors of the Company. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

Note  1 Statement of significant accounting policies 

ii. With the exception of the above, the Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods 
presented in the financial statements. The Group has considered the implications of new and amended Accounting 
Standards applicable for annual reporting periods beginning after 1 January 2015 but determined that their application 
to the financial statements is either not relevant or not material. 

c. Principles of consolidation 

As at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities have been incorporated into the consolidated financial 
statements as well as their results for the year then ended. Where controlled entities have entered (left) the Consolidated 
Group during the year, their operating results have been included (excluded) from the date control was obtained (ceased). 

i. Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to variable returns from another entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire; plus 

 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree;  

less 

 the net recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts 
are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.  

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to 
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

ii. Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the 
Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even 
if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.  

A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 12 Controlled Entities of the financial statements. 

iii. Loss of control 

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests 
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 
recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, than such interest is measured at 
fair value at the date control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-
sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

iv. Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

All intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

d. Foreign currency transactions and balances 

i. Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of each of the Group's entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which 
is the legal parent entity's functional and presentation currency. The functional currency of the accounting parent (Thredit) 
Hong Kong dollars. 
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Note  1 Statement of significant accounting policies 

ii. Transaction and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured 
at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured 
at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the profit or loss except where 
deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income to the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in other comprehensive income, otherwise the exchange 
difference is recognised in the profit or loss. 

iii. Group companies and foreign operations 

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group's 
presentation currency are translated as follows: 

 assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date; 

 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 

 retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group's foreign currency 
translation reserve in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised in the profit or loss in the period 
in which the operation is disposed. 

e. Taxation 

i. Income tax 

The income tax expense / (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(income) and deferred tax 
expense/(income). 

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using applicable 
income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities (assets) are therefore 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority. 

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year as 
well unused tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the tax relates to 
items recognised outside profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have 
been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable 
profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date. Their measurement 
also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or 
liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 
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Note  1 Statement of significant accounting policies 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it 
is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in 
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

Where the Group receives the Australian Government's Research and Development Tax Incentive, the Group accounts for 
the refundable tax offset under AASB 112. Funds are received as a rebate through the parent company's income tax return 
and disclosed as such in Note 6 Income Tax. 

ii.  Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown 
inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included as a current asset or 
liability in the balance sheet.  

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

f. Fair Value 

i. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, depending 
on the requirements of the applicable AASB. 

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly 
unforced transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date. 

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to determine 
fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. 
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most 
advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts 
from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction 
costs and transport costs). 

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also considers a market participant's ability to use the asset in its 
highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based payment 
arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the transfer of such financial 
instruments, by reference to observable market information where such instruments are held as assets. Where this 
information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective 
note to the financial statements. 

ii. Fair value hierarchy 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which 
categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is 
significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  

 Measurements based on quoted prices 

(unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement 

date. 

Measurements based on inputs other 

than quoted prices included in Level 1 

that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Measurements based on unobservable 

inputs for the asset or liability. 
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Note  1 Statement of significant accounting policies 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. If all 
significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more 
significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

iii. Valuation techniques 

The Group selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available 
to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the 
asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the Group are consistent with one or more of the 
following valuation approaches: 

 Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single 
discounted present value. 

 Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service capacity. 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the Group gives priority to those 
techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are 
developed using market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions 
that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for 
which market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available about such 
assumptions are considered unobservable. 

g. Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets (see accounting policy 1e) are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then 
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from 
other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, unless the asset has previously been 
revalued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any 
excess recognised through the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not 
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 

h. Financial instruments 

i. Initial recognition and measurement 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial 
assets are derecognised if the Group's contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group's obligations specified on the contract expire or are discharged or 
cancelled. 
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

ii. Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through 
profit or loss, any directly attributable transactions costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described below. 

iii. Classification and Subsequent Measurement 

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of nine months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
short-borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of financial position. 

(2) Loans 

Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Loans are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. 

(3) Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are usually settled within 60 days. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Collectability of trade and other receivables are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. An impairment loss is recognised for debts which are known to be uncollectible. An 
impairment provision is raised for any doubtful amounts (see also Note 1h.vii). 

(4) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year 
which are unpaid and stated at their amortised cost. The amounts are unsecured and are generally settled on 30-day 
terms. 

(5) Share capital 

Ordinary issued capital is recorded at the consideration received. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 
Ordinary issued capital bears no special terms or conditions affecting income or capital entitlements of the 
shareholders. 

iv. Amortised cost 

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition 
less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of the 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method. 

v. Fair value 

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to 
determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm's length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models. 
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vi. Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and is 
equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the 
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net 
cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a consequential recognition of an income or expense 
item in profit or loss. 

vii. Impairment 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

Financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.  

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost the reversal is recognised in the income statement.  

viii. Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to cash flow expires or the asset is transferred to another 
party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the 
asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expired. The 
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair 
value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

ix. Finance income and expenses 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), gains on the 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method, unwinding of 
discounts on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and impairment 
losses recognised on financial assets. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest 
method. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in income in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.  

i. Share-based payment arrangements 

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the Group measures the goods or services received, and the 
corresponding increase in equity, directly, at the fair value of the goods or services received, unless that fair value cannot 
be estimated reliably.  

Where the Group cannot estimate reliably the fair value of the goods or services received, the Group measures the value of 
the goods or service, and the corresponding increase in equity, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted. Refer also note 1j.v Equity-settled compensation. 

j. Employee benefits 

i. Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees' services provided to the reporting date and are 
calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Group expects to pay at the 
reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 
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Note  1 Statement of significant accounting policies 

Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits, such as medical care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods and services, 
are expensed based on the net marginal cost to the Group as the benefits are taken by the employees. 

ii. Other long-term benefits 

The Group's obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than defined benefit plans is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs; that 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The discount rate 
is the Reserve Bank of Australia's cash rate at the report date that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
Company's obligations. Any actuarial gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  

iii. Retirement benefit obligations: Defined contribution superannuation funds 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions onto a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred. 

iv. Termination benefits 

When applicable, the Group recognises a liability and expense for termination benefits at the earlier of: (a) the date when 
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer for termination benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs for 
restructuring pursuant to AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the costs include 
termination benefits. In either case, unless the number of employees affected is known, the obligation for termination 
benefits is measured on the basis of the number of employees expected to be affected. Termination benefits that are 
expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the annual reporting period in which the benefits are recognised are 
measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid. All other termination benefits are accounted for on the 
same basis as other long-term employee benefits. 

v. Equity-settled compensation 

The fair value of options granted is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair 
value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to market conditions not being met. 

k. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will results and that outflow can be reliably measured. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

l. Leases 

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the legal 
ownership, are transferred to entities in the Group are classified as finance leases. 

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the Group will 
obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are recognised in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease term. 

m. Revenue and other income 

i. Revenue from contracts with customers  

Revenue from contracts with customers The Group has early adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
from 1 July 2017, resulting in a change to the Group’s revenue recognition accounting policy. The core principal of AASB 15 
is that revenue is recognised on a basis that reflects the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an amount 
that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services.  
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Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step process outlined in AASB 15 which is as follows: 

Step 1: Identify the contract with a customer;  

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract and determine at what point they are satisfied; 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price; 

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and 

Step 5: Recognise the revenue as the performance obligations are satisfied. 

ii. Interest revenue is recognised in accordance with Note 1h.ix Finance income and expenses. 

iii. All revenue is stated net of the amount of GST (Note 1e.ii Goods and Services Tax (GST)). 

n. Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components. All 
operating segments' results are regularly reviewed by the Group's Managing Director to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

o. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

Management discusses with the Board the development, selection and disclosure of the Group's critical accounting policies and 
estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 
below. 

i. Key Estimate – Taxation 

Balances disclosed in the financial statements and the notes thereto, related to taxation, are based on the best estimates 
of directors. These estimates consider both the financial performance and position of the company as they pertain to 
current income taxation legislation, and the directors understanding thereof. No adjustment has been made for pending or 
future taxation legislation. The current income tax position represents that directors' best estimate, pending an assessment 
by tax authorities in relevant jurisdictions. Refer Note 6 Income Tax. 

ii. Key judgements and estimates – Share-based payments 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 17 Share-based payments. 

p. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the AASB which are not yet mandatorily 
applicable to the Group have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the 
Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.  

i. AASB 9 Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards (applicable for annual reporting period commencing 
1 January 2018) 

The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the comment on hedge accounting below) and includes revised 
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition 
requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. 

Key changes made to this standard that may affect the Group on initial application include certain simplifications to the 
classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded derivatives, and the irrevocable election to 
recognise gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income. 

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 will not have a material impact on the Group’s financial instruments. 

ii. AASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019). 

AASB 16 removes the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for the lessee effectively treating 
all leases as finance leases. Short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of a low value are exempt from the lease 
accounting requirements. Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice. 

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 will not have a material impact on the Group’s recognition of leases 
and disclosures). 
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The registered office of the Company is: 

Street + Postal: Level 26 

 140 Saint Georges Terrace 

 Perth WA 6000 

Telephone: +61 (0)8 6111 6279 

Facsimile:  +61 (0)8 6323 3351 

Head Quarters: 

Street: Ground Floor, 483 Riley Street 

 Surry Hills, NSW 2010 

 

Note  3 Revenue and other income  2018 

$ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Revenue    

Sales revenue 3c 249,000 - 

  249,000 - 

b. Other Income    

Interest  38,518 13,994 

Realised (loss) on financial assets  - (52,968) 

  38,518 (38,974) 

c. The performance obligation is the delivery of a working product to a customer. Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the 
working product. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Group recognises 
revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities. The amount of revenue is not considered to be 
reliably measurable until all material contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. 

 
 

Note  4 Profit / (loss) before income tax  2018 

$ 

2017 

 $ 

The following significant revenue and expense items are relevant in explaining 
the financial performance: 

 
  

a. Employment costs:    

 Directors fees  162,665 77,289 

 (Decrease) / Increase in employee benefits provisions  (22,377) 47,669 

 Superannuation expenses  144,503 38,057 

 Wages and salaries  1,679,910 894,934 

   1,964,701 1,057,949 

 

Note  5 Auditor's remuneration  2018 

$ 

2017 

 $ 

Remuneration of the auditor of the Thred Limited for:    

 Auditing or reviewing the financial reports:    

 Mazars CPA Limited (Hong Kong)  - 4,762 

 Bentleys (Australia)  38,287 30,459 

  38,287 35,221 
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Note  6 Income tax Note 2018 

$ 

 2017 

 $ 

a. Income tax expense / (benefit)    

Current tax  - - 

Deferred tax  - - 

  - - 

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:    

 Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax assets 6e - - 

 (Increase) / decrease in deferred tax liabilities  - - 

  - - 

b. Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable    

The prima facie tax payable / (benefit) on loss from ordinary activities before 
income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows: 

   

Prima facie tax on operating loss at 27.5% (2017: 27.5%)  (881,502) (776,445) 

Add / (Less) tax effect of:    

 Capital-raising costs deductible  (103,412) (95,905) 

 (Non-assessable)/Non-deductible share-based payments  58,905 (1,000,931) 

 Non-deductible expenses  420,452 854,324 

 Deferred tax asset not brought to account  505,557 1,018,957 

Income tax expense / (benefit) attributable to operating loss  - - 
    

  %  % 

c. The applicable weighted average effective tax rates attributable to operating 
profit are as follows 

 
 -  - 

    

  $  $ 

d. Balance of franking account at year end of the legal parent  nil nil 

e. Deferred tax assets    

Tax losses  3,818,112 3,571,707 

Provisions and accruals  28,631 260,398 

Capital raising costs  275,995 275,995 

  4,122,738 4,108,100 

Set-off deferred tax liabilities   - - 

Net deferred tax assets  4,122,738 4,108,100 

Less deferred tax assets not recognised  (4,122,738) (4,108,100) 

Net tax assets  - - 
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Note  6 Income tax (cont.) Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

f. Tax losses and deductible temporary differences    

Unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences for which no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised, that may be utilised to offset tax 
liabilities: 

 

13,884,044 12,988,027 

  13,884,044 12,988,027 

Potential deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses have not been brought to account at 30 June 2018 because the directors 
do not believe it is appropriate to regard realisation of the deferred tax assets as probable at this point in time. These benefits 
will only be obtained if: 

i. the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the 
deductions for the loss to be realised; 

ii. the company continues to comply with conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and 

iii. no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from the deductions for the loss. 
 

Note  7 Earnings per share (EPS) Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss    

 (Loss) / profit for the year  (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 

 Less: loss attributable to non-controlling equity interest  - - 

 (Loss) / profit used in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS  (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 
    

  2018 

 No. 

2017 

 No. 

b. Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
used in calculation of basic EPS  1,230,426,125 868,374,195 

    

  2018 

₵ 

2017 

₵ 

c. Earnings per share    

 Basic EPS (cents per share) 7d (0.26) (0.33) 

d. At the end of the 2018 financial year, the Group has 49,500,000 unissued shares under options (2017: 49,500,000). The Group 
does not report diluted earnings per share on annual losses generated by the Group. During the 2018 financial year the Group's 
unissued shares under option and partly-paid shares were anti-dilutive. 
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Note  8 Cash and cash equivalents Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Current    

Cash at bank  226,466 1,178,321 

Cash on deposit   3,000,131 3,300,000 

  3,226,597 4,478,321 

b. Reconciliation of cash    

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows 
is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:    

 Cash and cash equivalents  3,226,597 4,478,321 

  3,226,597 4,478,321 

c. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 
23 Financial risk management. 

 

d. Cash Flow Information 

Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

i. Reconciliation of cash flow from operations to (loss)/profit after income tax    

Loss after income tax   (3,205,463) (2,823,437) 

Non-cash flows in (loss)/profit from ordinary activities:    

 Interest revenue recognised as a investing activity  (34,693) (13,994) 

 Consultant fees settled in shares  - 825,000 

 Director salary applied to loans outstanding  - 23,094 

 Loss/(gain) and interest on financial assets  - 61,098 

 Foreign exchange (gain)/loss  - (11,531) 

 Net share-based payments (lapsed) / expensed  214,200 (3,639,749) 

 Other  - 3,195 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and disposal of 
subsidiaries:    

 Increase in receivables  (89,907) (129,317) 

 Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other assets  3,460 43,937 

 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (325,599) (491,207) 

 Increase in provisions  (11,932) 24,970 

Cash flow from operations  - (3,449,934) (6,127,941) 

e. Credit standby facilities    

The Group has no credit standby facilities.    

f. Non-cash investing and financing activities    

During the 2018 financial year, the Company issued: 

 2,612,500 Shares in settlement of $52,250 in trade payables relating to marketing service.  

 30,000,000 Shares equating to $150,000 in respect an advisory mandate as detailed in in note 17a.i(2). 

 10,700,000 Shares on the exercise of Incentive Option Plan options to the value of $64,202, as detailed in 17a.i(1) 
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Note  9 Trade and other receivables Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Current    

Trade receivables 23b.i 223,300 - 

Goods and Services Tax receivable  68,540 200,758 

Other  3,825 5,000 

  295,665 205,758 

b. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and usually settled within the lower of terms of trade or 30 days. 

c. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities, as well as an ageing 
and impairment analysis, are disclosed in Note 23 Financial risk management.  

 

Note  10 Other assets  2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Current    

Prepayments  3,525 3,525 

Rental bonds  9,323 12,783 

  12,848 16,308 

 

Note  11 Financial assets Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Current    

Financial assets available for sale 11a.i 2,000 2,000 

Less: Impairment  (2,000) (2,000) 

  - - 

i. The financial instrument held as available for sale have been analysed and classified using a fair value hierarchy 
reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Financial assets are classified as level 2. 

 

Note  12 Controlled entities 

a. Legal parent entity 

Thred Limited is the ultimate parent of the Group (refer to Note 1a.ii). 

i. Legal subsidiaries 
Country of  

Incorporation 

Class of  

Shares 

Percentage Owned 

2018 2017 

 Thredit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100.0 100.0 

 Thred Innovations Hong Kong Ordinary 80.0 80.0 

 AR Tech Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100.0 - 

b. Accounting parent entity 

Thredit Limited is the accounting parent of the Group (refer to Note 1a.ii). 

i. Accounting subsidiaries 
Country of  

Incorporation 

Class of  

Shares 

Percentage Controlled 

2018 2017 

 Thred Limited Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0 

 Thred Innovations Hong Kong Ordinary 80.0 80.0 

 AR Tech Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100.0 - 

c. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost. 

d. On 19 October 2017 the Group incorporated Sweep App Pty Ltd and Agent Reality Pty Ltd. Both companies remained 
dormant for the year and on 29 June 2018 and application to strike-off the Companies was sent to the ASIC. This action 
remains in progress. 
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Note  13 Trade and other payables Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Current    
Unsecured    

Trade payables 13b 134,677 320,308 

Accruals  168,058 209,996 

Employment related payables  27,166 90,406 

Related party payables  - 52,796 

  329,901 673,506 

b. Trade payables are non-interest bearing and usually settled within the lower of terms of trade or 30 days. 

c. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 23 
Financial risk management. 

 

Note  14 Provisions  2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Current    

Employee entitlements – annual leave  13,038 24,970 

  13,038 24,970 

 

Note  15 Issued capital Note 2018 

No. 

2017 

 No. 

2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Fully paid ordinary shares at no par value  1,789,390,870 1,149,614,660 35,758,537 33,358,269 

a. Ordinary shares      

At the beginning of the period  1,149,614,660 743,344,281 33,358,269 24,176,632 

Shares issued during the year:      

 Conversion of Performance shares  - 31,500,000 - 1,575,000 

 Rights Issue and Underwriting shares  - 62,001,362 - 1,240,028 

 Underwriting Shares (Tranche 2)  - 92,967,494 - 1,859,350 

 Underwriting fees  - 10,847,819 - 216,956 

 Consideration shares  - 55,000,000 - 825,000 

 Placement and related fees  - 153,953,704 - 4,051,750 

 Share-settled marketing service  2,612,500 - 52,250 - 

 Mandate execution fee 17a.i(2) 30,000,000 - 150,000 - 

 Exercise of Incentive Options 15c 10,700,000 - 64,202 - 

 2:1 Entitlement & Shortfall Offer  131,821,942 - 527,288 - 

 Underwritten Shortfall  464,641,768 - 1,858,567 - 

Transaction costs relating to share 
issues  

- - (252,039) (586,447) 

At reporting date  1,789,390,870 1,149,614,660 35,758,537 33,358,269 
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Note  15 Issued capital (cont.)  2018 

No. 

2017 

 No. 

2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

b. Performance shares      

Performance shares 17a.i(7),(8) - - - - 
  

   2018 

No. 

2017 

 No. 

2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

c. Options      

Options  49,500,000 49,500,000 842,251 842,251 
      

At the beginning of the period  49,500,000 100,000,000 842,251 1,496,988 

Movement in Options during the year:      

 5.00₵ options, expiry: 28.02.2020 17a.i(3) - 20,000,000 - 99,880 

 2.00₵ options, expiry: 09.05.2020 17a.i(4) - 9,500,000 - 321,585 

 5.00₵ options, expiry: 09.05.2020 17a.i(5) - 20,000,000 - 420,786 

 Expiry 6.25₵ on 30.05.2017 17a.ii(3) - (100,000,000) - (1,496,988) 

 Incentive Option Plan - issue 17a.i(1) 10,700,000 - 64,202 - 

 Incentive Option Plan - exercise  (10,700,000) - (64,202) - 

At reporting date  49,500,000 49,500,000 842,251 842,251 
      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

d. Capital Management    

The Directors' objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the Group can maintain a capital base so as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors 
monitors the availability of liquid funds in order to meet its short-term commitments.  

The focus of the Group's capital risk management is the current working capital position against the requirements of the 
Group in respect to its operations, software developments programmes, and corporate overheads. The Group's strategy is 
to ensure appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating 
appropriate capital raisings as required.  

The working capital position of the Group were as follows: 

 Note 2018 

$ 

2017 

 $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 8 3,226,597 4,478,321 

Trade and other receivables  9 295,665 205,758 

Other current assets 10 12,848 16,308 

Trade and other payables 13 (329,901) (673,506) 

Provisions 14 (13,038) (24,970) 

Working capital position  3,192,171 4,001,911 

 

Note  16 Reserves Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Foreign exchange reserve 16a (70,296) (65,751) 

Option reserve 16b 842,251 842,251 

  771,955 776,500 

a. Foreign exchange translation reserve 

The foreign exchange reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled subsidiaries. 

b. Option reserve 

The option reserve records items recognised as expenses on the value of directors and employee equity issues. 
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Note  17 Share-based payments Note 2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Share-based payment expense 17a.i(1) to (6) 214,200 849,001 

Share-based payment lapsed and cancelled 17a.i(7) to (8) - (4,488,750) 

Net share-based payment recognised in Profit or Loss   214,200 (3,639,749) 

    

Share-based payment expense recognised in capital raising costs 17a.ii(1) to (2)  - 461,956 

Expiration of vested share-based payments recognised in retained earnings 17a.ii(3) - (1,496,998) 

Gross share-based transactions   214,200 (4,674,791) 

a. Share-based payment arrangements in effect during the period 

i. Share-based payments recognised in profit or loss 

2018 

(1) Incentive Option Plan options 

On 29 March 2018, as part of the Company’s Incentive Option Plan, the Company issued 10,700,000 Options, 
valued at $64,200, with terms summarised below and further detailed in Note 17c: 

 Number under Option Date of Expiry Exercise Price  Vesting Terms  

 10,700,000 29 March 2023 $nil Immediately upon issue 

(2) Mandate shares 

On 3 April 2018, the Company issued 30,000,000 Shares at $0.05 cents per share, valued at $150,000, to CPS Capital 
(or their nominees) on execution of their mandate for advisory services. 

2017 

(3) Promoter options 

In consideration for promoting the December 2016 rights issue, the Company issued 20,000,000 Options with terms 
summarised below and further detailed in Note 17c: 

 Number under Option Date of Expiry Exercise Price  Vesting Terms  

 20,000,000 28 February 2020 $0.05 Immediately upon issue 

(4) Consultant options 

Pursuant to the agreement date 30 April 2017, the Company issued 9,500,000 Options with terms summarised 
below and further detailed in Note 17c: 

 Number under Option Date of Expiry Exercise Price  Vesting Terms  

 9,500,000 9 May 2020 $0.02 Immediately upon issue 

(5) Promoter options 

In consideration for promoting the May 2017 capital raise, the Company issued 20,000,000 Options with terms 
summarised below and further detailed in Note 17c: 

 Number under Option Date of Expiry Exercise Price  Vesting Terms  

 20,000,000 9 May 2020 $0.05 Immediately upon issue 

(6) Company Secretary shares 

On 9 May 2017, in consideration for services provided, the Company issued 250,000 shares at an issue price of 
$0.05 per share, equating to $6,750. 
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Note  17 Share-based payments (cont.) 

2017 

(7) Conversion of performance shares 

On 12 September 2016, Milestone 1: Launch of the Thred mobile phone app within a period of 90 days from 14 June 
2016 was satisfied within the requisite period and 31,500,000 performance shares accordingly converted into 
ordinary shares on 29 November 2016 at an issue price of $0.05 per share. The Company had previously disclosed a 
share-based payment expense in respect to this this Tranche of $1,417,500. Accordingly, the difference between 
the carrying value of $1,417,500 and the issue price of $1,575,000 of $157,500 has been recorded as a share-based 
payment expense in the period. 

(8) Lapse of performance shares 

In addition to the above, the Thredit Acquisition issued a further 115,500,000 Performance Shares to Key Idea or its 
nominees and Armada Capital or its nominees respectively to align the performance and ongoing commitment of the 
related parties.  

In respect Milestone 2: 250,000 downloads of Thred App being completed within a period of 90 days from satisfaction 
of Milestone 1. Milestone 2 was not satisfied by the deadline and accordingly, those performance shares have lapsed 
and will be cancelled. The balance carried in respect to this tranche of $1,575,000 has been accounted for through the 
profit and loss of the Group as a contra-expense “Share-based payments lapsed and cancelled” of $1,575,000. 

In respect Milestone 3: The Company updating the Thred App to incorporate an artificial intelligence (AI) engine within 
180 days from 14 June 2016. Milestone 3 was not satisfied by the deadline and accordingly, those performance shares 
have lapsed and will be cancelled. The balance carried in respect to this tranche of $1,890,000, has been accounted for 
through the profit and loss of the Group as a contra-expense “Share-based payments lapsed and cancelled” of 
$1,890,000. 

In respect to Milestone 4: 1,000,000 downloads of the Thred App within a period of 360 days from 14 June 2016. Under 
this Milestone 31,500,000 performance shares would convert upon 1,000,000 downloads of the Thred app being 
completed within a period of 360 days from the date of completion of the Capital Raising. Thred announced in 
December its intention to seek to vary the terms of these performance shares The Board have reassessed the 
probability of satisfaction of this milestone in its current form, estimating the likelihood to be nil. The balance carried in 
respect to this tranche of $1,181,250 has been accounted for through the profit and loss of the Group as a contra-
expense “Share-based payments lapsed and cancelled” of $1,181,250. 

ii. Share-based payments recognised in equity 

(1) Underwriting fees settled in shares 

In settlement of underwriting fees incurred in respect to the Prospectus dated 6 December 2016 for a fully 
underwritten rights issue, the Company issued 10,847,819 shares at an issue price of $0.02 per share, equating to a 
value of $216,956. 

(2) Capital raising fees settled in shares 

In partial settlement of capital raising fees incurred in respect to the May 2017 capital raise, the Company issued 
9,074,075 shares at an issue price of $0.027 per share, equating to a value of $245,000. 

(3) Expiration of consultant options 

On 30 May 2017, 100,000,000 6.25 cent options issued to consultants expired. As these options had vested 
immediately, a value ascribed to the options of $1,496,998 was applied from the Option reserve to Retained 
earnings. 
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Note  17 Share-based payments (cont.) 

b. Movement in share-based payment arrangements during the period 

A summary of the movements of all company options issued as share-based payments is as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 
Number of Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of Options 
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 49,500,000 $0.0442 100,000,000 $0.0625 

Granted 10,700,000 $nil 49,500,000 0.0442 

Exercised (10,700,000) $nil - - 

Expired - - (100,000,000) $0.0625 

Outstanding at year-end 49,500,000 $0.0442 49,500,000 $0.0442 

Exercisable at year-end 49,500,000 $0.0442 49,500,000 $0.0442 

i. On 29 March 2018 the Company 10,700,000 options with an exercise price of $nil and a 5-year expiry period were 
issued to employees of the Company pursuant to the terms of the Incentive Option Plan approved by shareholders on 
10 April 2017. 100% of those options were exercised on 13 April 2018  

ii. The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was 1.77 years (2017: 2.77 years). 
The weighted average exercise price of outstanding shares at the end of the reporting period was $0.0442 (2017: 
$0.0442). 

iii. The fair value of the options granted to employees is deemed to represent the value of the employee services received 
over the vesting period. 

c. Fair value of options grants during the period 

The fair value of the options granted to employees is deemed to represent the value of the employee services received 
over the vesting period. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.0060 (2017: $0.0204). This value was 
determined by reference to the grant date share price due to the option vesting immediately with no exercise price. 

 Grant date: 29 March 2018    

 Grant date share price: $0.006    

 Option exercise price: $nil    

 Number of options issued: 10,700,000    

 Remaining life (years): N/A - Exercised    

 Value per option $0.006    
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Note  18 Key Management Personnel compensation (KMP) 

The names and positions of KMP are as follows: 

 Mr David Wheeler Non-Executive Chair (Appointed 30 August 2017, Chair effective 11 September 2017) 

 Mr Hersh Solomon Majteles Non-executive Director 

 Mr Rob James Non-executive Director (Appointed 12 December 2017, Resigned 1 August 2018) 

 Mr Geoff Marshall Managing Director (Resigned 15 March 2018) 

 Ms Robyn Foyster Non-executive Director (Resigned 15 March 2018) 

 Mr Graeme Fear Non-executive Director (Resigned 30 August 2017) 

 Mr Christopher Adams Executive Director (Resigned 30 August 2017) 

 Mr David Whitaker Non-executive Director (Resigned 21 August 2017) 

Information regarding individual directors and executives’ compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as required 
by the Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 is provided in the Remuneration report table on page 9.  

  2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Short-term employee benefits  488,107 773,918 

Post-employment benefits  34,014 32,487 

Share-based payments  - - 

Other long-term benefits  - - 

Termination benefits  60,000 - 

Total  582,121 806,405 

 

Note  19 Related party transactions  2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless 
otherwise stated. 

   

 Antler Legal  - 5,000 

 Foyster Media  100,799 42,945 
 

 

Note  20 Commitments    

The Group has no material commitments as at 30 June 2018 (2017: nil)  
 

Note  21 Contingent liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2018 (2017: Nil). 
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Note  22 Operating segments  2017 

 $ 

2015 

 $ 

a. Identification of reportable segments 

The Group operates predominantly in the software development industry. 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are provided to the Board of Directors 
(the Board) on a monthly basis and in determining the allocation of resources. Management has identified the operating 
segments based on the principal geographical locations and regulatory environments – the Hong Kong and Australia. 

b. Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 

i. Accounting policies adopted 

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board, being the chief decision maker with respect to operating 
segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual 
financial statements of the Group. 

ii. Inter-segment transactions 

All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation of the Group's financial statements. 

Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received/to be received net of 
transaction costs. If inter-segment loans receivable and payable are not on commercial terms, these are not adjusted to 
fair value based on market interest rates. This policy represents a departure from that applied to the statutory financial 
statements. 

iii. Segment assets 

Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to that segment that receives majority 
economic value from that asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of their 
nature and physical location. 

iv. Segment liabilities 

Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is a direct nexus between the incurrence of the liability and the 
operations of the segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate to the Group as a whole and 
are not allocated. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and certain direct borrowings. 

v. Unallocated items 

The following items of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as they are not 
considered part of the core operations of any segment: 

 Depreciation and amortisation 

 Gains or losses on sales of financial and non-financial assets 

 Investment income 

 Corporate transaction accounting expense 
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Note  22 Operating segments (cont.) 

For the Year to 30 June 2018 

 

Hong Kong 

$ 

Australia 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 

Revenue and other income     

 Revenue  - 249,000 249,000 

 Grant funding  - 1,587,865 1,587,865 

 Interest  - 314,373 314,373 

 Licence fee  244,196 - 244,196 

Total segment revenue  244,196 2,151,238 2,395,434 

Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue     

 Intra-segment eliminations    (520,051) 

 Loss on financial assets  - - - 

Total group revenue and other income   _ 1,875,383 

Segment net/profit (loss) from continuing operations before 
tax  (36,469) (3,169,609) (3,206,078) 

Reconciliation of segment loss to group loss     

(i) Amounts not included in segment results but reviewed by 
Board: 

  
  

 Depreciation and amortisation   - - 

 Foreign exchange loss   (62) (  62) 

 Intra-segment eliminations    677 

Loss before income tax 
  

_ (3,205,463) 

     

As at 30 June 2018 
  

  

Segment Assets  - 6,740,241 6,740,241 

Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets     

 Intra-segment eliminations    (3,205,131) 

Total assets   _ 3,535,110 

Segment asset increases for the year:      

 Capital expenditure   - - - 

 Acquisitions  - - - 

  - - - 

     

Segment Liabilities  3,285,545 208,381 3,493,926 

Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group liabilities     

 Intra-segment eliminations    (3,150,987) 

Total liabilities   _ 342,939 

  (134,558)   
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Note  22 Operating segments (cont.) 

For the Year to 30 June 2017 

 

Hong Kong 

$ 

Australia 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 

Revenue and other income     

 Interest  - 13,994 13,994 

Total segment revenue  - 13,994 13,994 

Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue     

 Loss on financial assets on disposal of subsidiary  - (52,968) (52,968) 

Total group revenue and other income   _ (38,974) 

Segment net/profit (loss) from continuing operations before 
tax  18,485 (2,840,174) (2,821,689) 

Reconciliation of segment loss to group loss     

(ii) Amounts not included in segment results but reviewed by 
Board: 

  
  

 Foreign exchange loss   (1,748) (1,748) 

Loss before income tax 
  

_ (2,823,437) 

     

As at 30 June 2017 
  

  

Segment Assets  - 7,869,664 7,869,664 

Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets     

 Intra-segment eliminations    (3,169,277) 

Total assets   _ 4,700,387 

Segment asset increases for the year:      

 Capital expenditure   - - - 

 Acquisitions  - - - 

  - - - 

     

Segment Liabilities  3,139,314 568,463 3,707,777 

Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group liabilities     

 Intra-segment eliminations    (3,009,301) 

Total liabilities   _ 698,476 

  (130,013)   
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Note  23 Financial risk management 

a. Financial Risk Management Policies 

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and 
procedures for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, and accounts payable and 
receivable. 

The Group does not speculate in the trading of derivative instruments. 

A summary of the Group's Financial Assets and Liabilities is shown below: 

 

 

 

Floating 

Interest 

Rate 

Fixed 

Interest 

Rate 

Non- 

interest  

Bearing 

 

 2018  

Total 

Floating 

Interest 

Rate 

Fixed 

Interest 

Rate 

Non- 

interest  

Bearing 

 

 2017  

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets         

 Cash and cash equivalents  226,466 3,000,131 - 3,226,597 4,478,321 - - 4,478,321 

 Trade and other receivables - - 295,665 295,665 - - 205,758 205,758 

Total Financial Assets 226,466 3,000,131 295,665 3,522,262 4,478,321 - 205,758 4,684,079 
         

Financial Liabilities         

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost          

 Trade and other payables - - 329,901 329,901 - - 673,506 673,506 

Total Financial Liabilities - - 329,901 329,901 - - 673,506 673,506 

Net Financial 

Assets/(Liabilities) 226,466 3,000,131 (34,236) 3,192,361 4,478,321 - (467,748)  4,010,573 

 

b. Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

The main risk the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
consisting of interest rate, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. 

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
The Board adopts practices designed to identify significant areas of business risk and to effectively manage those risks in 
accordance with the Group's risk profile. This includes assessing, monitoring and managing risks for the Group and setting 
appropriate risk limits and controls. The Group is not of a size nor is its affairs of such complexity to justify the 
establishment of a formal system for risk management and associated controls. Instead, the Board approves all 
expenditure, is intimately acquainted with all operations and discuss all relevant issues at the Board meetings. The 
operational and other compliance risk management have also been assessed and found to be operating efficiently and 
effectively.  

i. Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of 
contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group. 

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under 
financial instruments entered into by the Group.  
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Note  23  Financial risk management (cont.) 

The objective of the Group is to minimise the risk of loss from credit risk. Although revenue from operations is minimal, 
the Group trades only with creditworthy third parties.  

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad 
debts is insignificant. The Group's maximum credit risk exposure is limited to the carrying value of its financial assets as 
indicated on the statement of financial position. 

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables. 

 Credit risk exposures 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is that to its alliance partners and that is limited to the carrying amount, net 
of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the 
financial statements.  

Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the Group in accordance 
with approved Board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are only invested with financial institutions 
residing in Australia, where ever possible. 

 Impairment losses 

The ageing of the Group's trade and other receivables at reporting date was as follows: 
 

 
Gross 

2018 

$ 

Impaired 

2018 

$ 

Net 

2018 

$ 

Past due but not 
impaired 

2018 

$ 

Trade receivables     

Not past due 24,420 - 24,420 - 

Past due up to 1 month 198,880 - 198,880 198,880 

Past due 1 month to 3 months - - - - 

Past due over 3 months - - - - 

 223,300 - 223,300 198,880 

Other receivables     

Not past due 72,365 - 72,365 - 

Total 295,665 - 295,665 198,880 

ii. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise 
meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and ensuring sufficient cash 
and marketable securities are available to meet the current and future commitments of the Group. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group's reputation. 

Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, 
including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot 
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 
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Note  23  Financial risk management (cont.) 

The financial liabilities of the Group are confined to trade and other payables as disclosed in the statement of financial 
position. All trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and due within 30 days of the reporting date. 

 Contractual Maturities 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Group: 
 

 Within 1 Year Greater Than 1 Year Total 

 2018 

$ 

2017 

$ 

2018 

$ 

2017 

$ 

2018 

$ 

2017 

$ 

Financial liabilities due for payment       

Trade and other payables 329,901 673,506 - - 329,901 673,506 

Total contractual outflows 329,901 673,506 - - 329,901 673,506 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  3,226,597 4,478,321 - - 3,226,597 4,478,321 

Trade and other receivables 295,665 205,758 - - 295,665 205,758 

Total anticipated inflows 3,522,262 4,684,079 - - 3,522,262 4,684,079 

Net (outflow)/inflow on financial 

instruments 3,192,361 4,010,573 - - 3,192,361 4,010,573 

 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier or at 
significantly different amounts. 

iii. Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. 

The Board meets on a regular basis and considers the Group's interest rate risk. 

(1) Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the 
reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed 
rate financial instruments. The Group is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments. 

Due to the low amount of debt exposed to floating interest rates, interest rate risk is not considered a high risk to 
the Group. Movement in interest rates on the Group's financial liabilities and assets is not material. 

(2) Foreign exchange risk 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
fluctuating due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group holds financial 
instruments which are other than the AUD functional currency of the Group. 

The Group has no material exposure to foreign exchange risk. 

(3) Price risk 

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. The Group does not presently hold material amounts subject to price risk. As such the 
Board considers price risk as a low risk to the Group. 
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Note  23 Financial risk management (cont.) 

iv. Sensitivity Analyses 

The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Group's exposures to changes in interest rates. The table indicates the 
impact on how profit and equity values reported at balance sheet date would have been affected by changes in the 
relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. These sensitivities assume that the 
movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables. 

 (1) Interest rates Profit 

$ 

Equity 

$ 

 Year ended 30 June 2018   

 ±50 basis points change in interest rates ± 1,132 ± 1,132 

 Year ended 30 June 2017   

 ±100 basis points change in interest rates ± 44,783 ± 44,783 

 
 (2) Foreign exchange Profit 

$ 

Equity 

$ 

 Year ended 30 June 2018   

 ±10% of Australian dollar strengthening/weakening against the HKD ± nil ± 13,456 

 Year ended 30 June 2017   

 ±10% of Australian dollar strengthening/weakening against the HKD ± nil ± 13,001 

v. Net Fair Values 

(1) Fair value estimation 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the table in Note 23a and can be 
compared to their carrying values as presented in the statement of financial position. Fair values are those 
amounts at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm's length transaction. 

Financial instruments whose carrying value is equivalent to fair value due to their nature include: 

 Cash and cash equivalents; 

 Trade and other receivables; and 

 Trade and other payables. 

The methods and assumptions used in determining the fair values of financial instruments are disclosed in the 
accounting policy notes specific to the asset or liability. 

 

Note  24 Events subsequent to reporting date 

Subsequent to year end, the following directors were appointed or resigned: 

 Mr Rob James (Resigned 1 August 2018) 

 Mr Joe Graziano (Appointed 1 August 2018) 

On 31 July 2018, the Company announced that it has established an Unmarketable Parcel sale facility (Facility) for holders of 
less than a marketable parcel. An "Unmarketable Parcel" is defined by the ASX Listing Rules as a shareholding with a market 
value of less than $500. The Board has resolved that Facility will apply to parcels of shares in the Company with a market value 
of less than $500 based on the closing price on the ASX of $0.003 on the record date of 27 July 2018. This represents 
63,596,048 ordinary shares in the Company, held by 1,301 shareholders (representing approximately 3.5% of total issued 
capital). 

There are other no material events subsequent to reporting date. 
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Note  25 Parent entity disclosures  2018 

 $ 

2017 

 $ 

a. Financial Position of Thred Limited (legal parent) 
   

Current assets  3,535,108 4,700,387 

Non-current assets  - - 

Total assets  3,535,108 4,700,387 

Current liabilities  208,380 568,463 

Non-current liabilities  - - 

Total liabilities  208,380 568,463 

Net assets  3,326,728 4,131,924 

Equity    

Issued capital  52,552,355 50,152,087 

Performance Shares  - - 

Options reserve  842,251 842,251 

Accumulated losses  (50,067,878) (46,862,414) 

Total equity  3,326,728 4,131,924 

b. Financial performance of Thred Limited    

Profit / (loss) for the year   (3,169,609) (2,841,921) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive income  (3,169,609) (2,841,921) 

c. Guarantees entered into by Thred Limited for the debts of its subsidiaries 

There are no guarantees entered into by Thred Limited for the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2018 (2017: none). 
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DAVID WHEELER 

Chair  

Dated this Wednesday, 29 August 2018 

 

  

Directors' declaration 

 
 

The Directors of the Company declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 17 to 48, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 
and: 

 (a) comply with Accounting Standards;  

 (b) are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, as stated in Note 1 to the financial statements; and 

 (c) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of the performance for the year ended on 
that date of the Group. 

 (d) the Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); 

2. in the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the 
directors by: 

 



Independent Auditor's Report 
 
To the Members of Thred Limited  
 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Thred Limited (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Consolidated Entity”), which comprises the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion: 

a. the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as 
at 30 June 2018 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; 
and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as disclosed in Note 1(a)(i). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Those 
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in 
accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

  



Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Thred Limited (Continued) 
 
 
Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Recognition of Research & Development Tax 
Incentive - $1,587,865 

Under the Research and Development (“R&D”) tax 
incentive scheme, the Consolidated Entity receives 
a 43.5% refundable tax offset of eligible 
expenditure.  An R&D submission was filed with 
AusIndustry during the period. 

This area is a key audit matter due to the inherent 
subjectivity that is involved in the Consolidated Entity 
making judgements in relation to estimation and 
recognition of the R&D tax incentive income in 
addition to the material nature of the amount 
recognised. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 obtaining an understanding of the objectives and 
activities in the R&D program; 

 reviewing a summary of the work conducted by 
the expert engaged by the Consolidated Entity; 

 assessing the scope of services and capabilities 
of the expert engaged by the Consolidated 
Entity; 

 assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the 
financial report; and 

 tracing receipt of the R&D incentive to bank 
statements. 

 

Share based payments – $214,200 

(Refer to Note 17) 

As disclosed in note 17 in the financial statements, 
during the year ended 30 June 2018, the Company 
incurred share based payments totalling $214,200 

Share based payments are considered to be a key 
audit matter due to  

 the value of the transactions;  

 the complexities involved in recognition and 
measurement of these instruments; and 

 the judgement involved in determining the inputs 
used in the valuation.  

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 analysing contractual agreements to identify the 
key terms and conditions of share based 
payments issued and relevant vesting conditions 
in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based 
Payments; 

 assessing the assumptions and inputs used to 
value the options and shares issued; 

 assessing the amount recognised during the 
period against the vesting conditions of the 
options and shares; and 

 assessing the adequacy of the disclosures 
included in the financial report. 
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Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1(a)(i), 
the directors also state in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Consolidated Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Consolidated Entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. Our objectives are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

  



Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Thred Limited (Continued) 
 
 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Consolidated Entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2018.  
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report 
in accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
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Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of the Company, for the year ended 30 June 2018, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 

  
BENTLEYS DOUG BELL CA 
Chartered Accountants Partner 
 
 
Dated at Perth this 29th day of August 2018 
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Corporate governance statement 

The Board is responsible for establishing the Company’s corporate governance framework. In establishing its corporate governance framework, 
the Board has referred to the 3rd edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Councils’ Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 

The Corporate Governance Statement discloses the extent to which the Company follows the recommendations. The Company will follow each 

recommendation where the Board has considered the recommendation to be an appropriate benchmark for its corporate governance 
practices. Where the Company’s corporate governance practices will follow a recommendation, the Board has made appropriate statements 
reporting on the adoption of the recommendation. In compliance with the “if not, why not” reporting regime, where, after due consideration, 

the Company’s corporate governance practices will not follow a recommendation, the Board has explained its reasons for not following the 
recommendation and disclosed what, if any, alternative practices the Company will adopt instead of those in the recommendation. 

The Company’s governance-related documents can be found on its website at www.thred.im under the section marked "For Investors" under 

the heading “Overview”.  

 

PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

Recommendation 1.1  
A listed entity should have and disclose a charter which: 
(a) sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of the 

board, the chair and management; and 
(b) includes a description of those matters expressly 

reserved to the board and those delegated to 

management. 

 
YES 

The Company has established the respective roles and 
responsibilities of its Board and management, and those matters 
expressly reserved to the Board and those delegated to 
management, and has documented this in its Board Charter. 

The responsibilities of the Board include but are not limited to: 
(a) setting and reviewing strategic direction and planning; 
(b) reviewing financial and operational performance; 

(c) identifying principal risks and reviewing risk management 
strategies; and 

(d) considering and reviewing significant capital investments and 

material transactions. 

In exercising its responsibilities, the Board recognises that there are 
many stakeholders in the operations of the Company, including 
employees, shareholders, co-ventures, the government and the 
community. 

Recommendation 1.2 
A listed entity should: 
(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, 

or putting forward to security holders a candidate for 
election, as a director; and 

(b) provide security holders with all material information 

relevant to a decision on whether or not to elect or re-elect 
a director. 

 
YES 

The Board carefully considers the character, experience, education 
and skillset, as well as interests and associations of potential 
candidates for appointment to the Board and conducts appropriate 
checks to verify the suitability of the candidate, prior to their 
election. The Company has appropriate procedures in place to 
ensure that material information relevant to a decision to elect or 
re-elect a director, is disclosed in the notice of meeting provided to 
shareholders. 

Recommendation 1.3 
A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director 

and senior executive setting out the terms of their appointment. 

 
YES 

The Company has a written agreement with each of the Directors. 
The material terms of any employment, service or consultancy 
agreement the Company, or any of its child entities, has entered into 
with its Chief Executive Officer, any of its directors, and any other 
person or entity who is a related party of the Chief Executive Officer 
or any of its directors will be disclosed in accordance with ASX Listing 
Rule 3.16.4 (taking into consideration the exclusions from disclosure 
outlined in that rule). 

Recommendation 1.4 
The company secretary of a listed entity should be accountable 

directly to the board, through the chair, on all matters to do with 
the proper functioning of the board. 

 
YES 

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for facilitating the 
Company’s corporate governance processes and the proper functioning 
of the Board. Each Director is entitled to access the advice and services of 
the Company Secretary. 

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, the appointment or 
removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole. 
Details of the Company Secretary’s experience and qualifications are set 
out in the Annual Report. 

 

 

  

http://www.thred.im/
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PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Recommendation 1.5 

A listed entity should: 
(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the 

board: 

(i) to set measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity; and 

(ii) to assess annually both the objectives and the entity’s 

progress in achieving them; 
(b) disclose that policy or a summary or it; and 
(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period: 

(i) the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the board in accordance with the 
entity’s diversity policy and its progress towards 

achieving them; and 
(ii) either: 

(A) the respective proportions of men and women 

on the board, in senior executive positions and 
across the whole organisation (including how 
the entity has defined “senior executive” for 

these purposes); or 
(B) the entity’s “Gender Equality Indicators”, as 

defined in the Workplace Gender Equality Act 

2012. 

 

NO 
(not 

followed 

in full) 

The Company is committed to creating a diverse working 
environment and promoting a culture which embraces diversity and 
has adopted a written policy. Given the size of the Company and 
scale of its operations, however, the Board is of the view that the 
setting measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity is not 
required at this time. Further as the Company has not established 
measureable objectives for achieving gender diversity, the Company 
has not reported on progress towards achieving them. 

 

Recommendation 1.6  

A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the 

performance of the board, its committees and individual 

directors; and 
(b) disclose in relation to each reporting period, whether a 

performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 

period in accordance with that process. 

 

NO 
Whilst the Company has a written policy, the Board recognises that 
as a result of the Company’s size and the stage of the entity’s life as 
a public listed technology company, the assessment of the directors’ 
and executives’ overall performance and its own succession plan is 
conducted on an informal basis. Whilst this is at variance with the 
ASX Recommendations, the Directors consider that at the date of 
this report an appropriate and adequate process for the evaluation 
of Directors is in place. 

 

Recommendation 1.7 

A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the 

performance of its senior executives; and 

(b) disclose in relation to each reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process.  

 

NO 
Refer above. 

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 

Recommendation 2.1  
The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 
(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the members of the committee; and 

(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the number 
of times the committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the members at 

those meetings; or 
(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, disclose that 

fact and the processes it employs to address board 

succession issues and to ensure that the board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and 
knowledge of the entity to enable it to discharge its duties 

and responsibilities effectively. 

 
YES 

A Nomination Committee operated during FY18. The Committee was 
comprised of 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors.  

The charter of the Committee is disclosed in the Corporate 
Governance Policies on the Company’s website.  

The full board now perform the duties of the Committee. 

Attendance is reported in the annual report. 
 

Recommendation 2.2 
A listed entity should have and disclose a board skill matrix setting 

out the mix of skills and diversity that the board currently has or is 
looking to achieve in its membership. 

 
NO  

(not 
followed 

in full) 

The details of the skill set of the current Board members are set out 
in the description of each Director in the Annual Report. The Board 
believes that the current skill mix is appropriate given the Company’s 
size and the stage of the entity’s life as a publicly listed technology 
company. 
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PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Recommendation 2.3 

A listed entity should disclose: 
(a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be 

independent directors; 

(b) if a director has an interest, position, association or 
relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendation (3rd 

Edition), but the board is of the opinion that it does not 
compromise the independence of the director, the nature of 
the interest, position, association or relationship in question 

and an explanation of why the board is of that opinion; and 
(c) the length of service of each director 

 

YES 
Mr Sol Majteles has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of 
the Company since 18 January 2008 (apart from the period from April 
2015 when Promesa engaged Lavan Legal (in which Mr Majteles is a 
salaried partner) to provide material professional services to the 
Company, with payment delayed until settlement of the RTO of 
Thredit in June 2016. 

Mr Joe Graziano has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of 
the Company since being appointed on 1 August 2018. 

 

Recommendation 2.4 
A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent 
directors. 

 
YES 

The Board comprises three Directors of whom two are considered to 
be an Independent Director. The Board considers that all Directors 
bring an independent judgement to bear on Board decisions and that 
the Board’s expertise and experience adds considerable value to the 
Company. 

Recommendation 2.5 
The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent 
director and, in particular, should not be the same person as the 

CEO of the entity. 

 
YES 

Mr David Wheeler (Chair) was an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company from his appointment on 30 August 2017 
until taking on a more executive role in May 2018. Mr Wheeler is 
considered to be the most appropriate person to Chair the Board 
because of his public company experience. 

Recommendation 2.6 

A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors 
and providing appropriate professional development 
opportunities for continuing directors to develop and maintain 

the skills and knowledge needed to perform their role as a 
director effectively. 

 

NO 
The Board recognises that as a result of the Company’s size and the 
stage of the entity’s life as a publicly listed technology company, the 
Board has not put in place a formal program for inducting new 
directors. However, it does provide a package of background 
information on commencement and provides ready interaction with 
the Company’s personnel to gain a stronger understanding of the 
business. Similarly, the Company does not at this stage provide 
professional development opportunities for Directors. More formal 
processes for both of these areas will be considered in the future as 
the Company develops. 

Principle 3: Act ethically and responsibly 

Recommendation 3.1  
A listed entity should: 

(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives 
and employees; and 

(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

 
YES 

The Company is committed to promoting good corporate conduct 
grounded by strong ethics and responsibility. The Company has 
established a Code of Conduct (Code), which addresses matters 
relevant to the Company’s legal and ethical obligations to its 
stakeholders. It may be amended from time to time by the Board, 
and is disclosed on the Company’s website. The Code applies to all 
Directors, employees, contractors and officers of the Company. 



ANNUAL REPORT  THRED LIMITED  
30 June 2018 AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES  

 ABN 36 124 541 466 

 

P a g e  | 58 

PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

Recommendation 4.1  
The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have an audit committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, all of whom are non-
executive directors and a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent director, who is not 
the chair of the board, 

and disclose: 

(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the relevant qualifications and experience of the 

members of the committee; and 

(v) in relation to each reporting period, the number of 
times the committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the members at 

those meetings; or 
(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose that fact and 

the processes it employs that independently verify and 

safeguard the integrity of its financial reporting, including 
the processes for the appointment and removal of the 
external auditor and the rotation of the audit engagement 

partner. 

 
YES 

Thred was not a Company required by ASX Listing Rule 12.7 to have 
an Audit Committee although it is included in the ASX 
Recommendations. The Board has not established an audit 
committee at this point in the Company’s development. It is 
considered that the size of the Board along with the level of activity 
of the Company renders this impractical and the full Board considers 
in detail all of the matters for which the directors are responsible. 
The Board has adopted an Audit Committee Charter which describes 
the role, composition, functions and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee and is disclosed on the Company’s website. 

 

Recommendation 4.2 

The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s 
financial statements for a financial period, receive from its CEO 
and CFO a declaration that the financial records of the entity have 

been properly maintained and that the financial statements 
comply with the appropriate accounting standards and give a true 
and fair view of the financial position and performance of the 

entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a 
sound system of risk management and internal control which is 
operating effectively. 

 

YES 
In accordance with ASX Recommendation 4.2 the Chief Executive 
Officer (or their equivalent) and Chief Financial Officer (or their 
equivalent) are required to provide assurances that the written 
declarations under s295A of the Corporations Act (and for the 
purposes of ASX Recommendation 4.2) are founded on a sound 
framework of risk management and internal control and that the 
framework is operating effectively in all material respects in relation 
to financial reporting risks. Both the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer provide such assurances at the time the s295A 
declarations are provided to the Board. 
 

Recommendation 4.3 
A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its external 
auditor attends its AGM and is available to answer questions from 

security holders relevant to the audit. 

 
YES 

The Company’s external audit function is performed by Bentleys Audit 
and Corporate (Bentleys). Representatives of Bentleys will attend the 
Annual General Meeting and be available to answer shareholder 
questions regarding the audit. 

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Recommendation 5.1  
A listed entity should: 
(a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous 

disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and 
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

 
YES 

 

The Company operates under the continuous disclosure 
requirements of the ASX Listing Rules and has adopted a policy, 
which is disclosed on the Company’s website. The Continuous 
Disclosure Policy sets out policies and procedures for the Company’s 
compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations under the ASX 
Listing Rules, and addresses financial markets communication, media 
contact and continuous disclosure issues. It forms part of the 
Company’s corporate policies and procedures and is available to all 
staff. 

The Company Secretary manages the policy. The policy will develop 
over time as best practice and regulations change and the Company 
Secretary will be responsible for communicating any amendments. 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of security holders 

Recommendation 6.1  
A listed entity should provide information about itself and its 
governance to investors via its website. 

 
YES 

The Company keeps investors informed of its corporate governance, 
financial performance and prospects via its website – www.thred.im. 
Investors can access copies of all announcements to the ASX, notices 
of meetings, annual reports and financial statement, and investor 
presentations via the ‘For Investors’ section and can access general 
information regarding the Company and the structure of its business 
in its ‘Overview’ section. 
 

http://www.thred.im/
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PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Recommendation 6.2  

A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations 
program to facilitate effective two-way communication with 
investors. 

 

YES 
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed of all major 
developments affecting the Company’s state of affairs. In 
accordance with the ASX Recommendations, information is 
communicated to shareholders as follows: 

 the annual financial report which includes relevant information 
about the operations of the Company during the year, changes 
in the state of affairs of the entity and details of future 
developments, in addition to the other disclosures required by 
the Corporations Act 2001; 

 the half yearly financial report lodged with the ASX and ASIC and 
sent to all shareholders who request it; 

 notifications relating to any proposed major changes in the 
Company which may impact on share ownership rights that are 
submitted to a vote of shareholders; 

 notices of all meetings of shareholders; 

 publicly released documents including full text of notices of 
meetings and explanatory material made available on the 
Company’s website at www.thred.im; and 

 disclosure of the Corporate Governance practices and 

communications strategy on the entity’s website. 

While the Company aims to provide sufficient information to 
Shareholders about the Company and its activities, it understands 
that Shareholders may have specific questions and require additional 
information. To ensure that Shareholders can obtain all relevant 
information to assist them in exercising their rights as Shareholders, 
the Company has made available a telephone number and relevant 
contact for Shareholders to make their enquiries. 

Recommendation 6.3  
A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in 

place to facilitate and encourage participation at meetings of 
security holders. 

 
YES 

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with the Company’s strategy and goals. Important issues 
are presented to the shareholders as single resolutions. The external 
auditor of the Company is also invited to the Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders and is available to answer any questions concerning the 
conduct, preparation and content of the auditor’s report. Pursuant to 
section 249K of the Corporations Act 2001 the external auditor is 
provided with a copy of the notice of meeting and related 
communications received by shareholders. 

Recommendation 6.4 
A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive 

communications from, and send communications to, the entity 
and its security registry electronically. 

 
YES 

The Company provides its investors the option to receive 
communications from and send communications to, the Company and 
the share registry electronically. 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 

Recommendation 7.1  
The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each of 
which: 
(i) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 

independent directors; and 
(ii) is chaired by an independent director, and disclose: 
(iii) the charter of the committee; 

(iv) the members of the committee; and 
(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and 

the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that 

satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact and the process it 
employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework. 

 
YES 

Due to the size of the Board, the Company does not have a separate 
Risk Committee. The Board is responsible for the oversight of the 
Company’s risk management and control framework. The Board has 
adopted a Risk Management Policy, which is disclosed on the 
Company’s website. 
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PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Recommendation 7.2 

The board or a committee of the board should: 
(a) review the entity’s risk management framework with 

management at least annually to satisfy itself that it 

continues to be sound, to determine whether there have 
been any changes in the material business risks the entity 
faces and to ensure that they remain within the risk appetite 

set by the board; and 
(b) disclose in relation to each reporting period, whether such a 

review has taken place. 

 

YES 
The Board recognises that there are inherent risks associated with 
the Company’s operations including commercial, technological legal 
and other operational risks. The Board endeavours to mitigate such 
risks by continually reviewing the activities of the Company in order 
to identify key business and operational risks and ensuring that they 
are appropriately assessed and managed. No formal report in 
relation to the Company’s management of its material business risks 
is presented to the Board. The Board reviews the risk profile of the 
Company and monitors risk informally throughout the year. 

Recommendation 7.3 
A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is 
structured and what role it performs; or 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and 

the processes it employs for evaluating and continually 
improving the effectiveness of its risk management and 
internal control processes. 

 
YES 

The Company does not have an internal audit function. This is the 
case due to the size of the Company and the stage of life of the 
entity. To evaluate and continually improve the effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management and internal control processes, the 
Board relies on ongoing reporting and discussion of the management 
of material business risks as outlined in the Company’s Risk 
Management Policy. 
 

Recommendation 7.4 
A listed entity should disclose whether, and if so how, it has 
regard to economic, environmental and social sustainability risks 

and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks. 

 
YES 

As already outlined above in relation to various ASX 
Recommendations, the Company constantly monitors and reviews 
the key risks that affect the Company and the management of those 
risks. The risks which the Company has identified that it has a 
material exposure to are its ability to raise funds within an 
acceptable time frame and on terms acceptable to it (“Capital Risk”); 
and that its existing projects, or any other projects that it may 
acquire in the future, will be able to be economically exploited 
(“Economic Risk”). The manner in which the Company manages 
those risks, in the case of Capital Risk, to monitor the market and 
investment appetite and to raise further required capital in a timely 
manner such that the Company’s operations are adequately funded; 
in the case of Economic Risk, to adopt a diversified portfolio 
approach and to also adopt a focused approach, seeking to lay off 
risk where possible. More information about the Company’s 
management of risk can be found in the prospectus released 12 
December 2016. 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Recommendation 8.1 
The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a remuneration committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 
(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the members of the committee; and 

(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the number 
of times the committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the members at 

those meetings; or 
(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, disclose that 

fact and the processes it employs for setting the level and 

composition of remuneration for directors and senior 
executives and ensuring that such remuneration is 
appropriate and not excessive. 

 
YES 

A Nomination Committee operated during FY18. The Committee was 
comprised of 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors.  

The charter of the Committee is disclosed in the Corporate 
Governance Policies on the Company’s website.  

The full board now perform the duties of the Committee. 

Attendance is reported in the annual report. 

 

Recommendation 8.2 

A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices 
regarding the remuneration of non-executive directors and the 
remuneration of executive directors and other senior executives 

and ensure that the different roles and responsibilities of non-
executive directors compared to executive directors and other 
senior executives are reflected in the level and composition of 

their remuneration. 

 
YES 

Details of the Company’s policies on remuneration are set out in the 
Company’s “Remuneration Report” in each Annual Report published 
by the Company. This disclosure will include a summary of the 
Company’s policies regarding the deferral of performance-based 
remuneration and the reduction, cancellation or clawback of the 
performance-based remuneration in the event of serious 
misconduct or a material misstatement in the Company’s financial 
statements. 
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PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Recommendation 8.3 

A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration scheme 
should: 
(a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter 

into transactions (whether through the use of derivatives or 
otherwise) which limit the economic risk of participating in 
the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

 

N/A 
The Company’s Security Trading Policy includes a statement 
prohibiting directors, officers and employees from dealing at any time 
in financial products such as warrants, futures or other financial 
products issued over PRA markets, but does not specifically prohibit 
entering into transactions (whether through the use of derivatives or 
otherwise) which limit the economic risk of their security holding in 
the Company or of participating in unvested entitlements under any 
equity based remuneration schemes. 

 

Security Trading Policy 

In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 12.9, the Company has 

adopted a trading policy which sets out the following information: 

a) closed periods in which directors, employees and contractors 

of the Company must not deal in the Company’s securities; 

b) trading in the Company’s securities which is not subject to the 

Company’s trading policy; and 

c) the procedures for obtaining written clearance for trading in 

exceptional circumstances.  

The Company’s Security Trading Policy is available on the Company’s 
website. 
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Additional Information for Listed Public Companies 
 

The following additional information is required by the Australian Securities Exchange in respect of listed public companies. 

1 Capital 

a. Ordinary share capital 

1,789,390,870 ordinary fully paid shares held by 2,092 shareholders. 

b. Unlisted Options over Unissued Shares 

 10,000,000 Unlisted Options with a $0.05 exercise price per Option, expiring 27 February 2020.  

 9,500,000 Unlisted Options with a $0.02 exercise price per Option, expiring 9 May 2020.  

 20,000,000 Unlisted Options with a $0.05 exercise price per Option, expiring 9 May 2020.  

c. Voting Rights 

The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows: 

 Ordinary shares: Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member 
present at a meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. 

 Unlisted Options: Options do not entitle the holders to vote in respect of that equity instrument, nor participate 
in dividends, when declared, until such time as the options are exercised or performance shares convert and 
subsequently registered as ordinary shares. 

d. Substantial Shareholders as at 22 August 2018.  

 Name Number of Ordinary 
Fully Paid Shares Held 

% Held of Issued Ordinary 
Capital 

 Mr Jason Peterson 141,000,000 7.88% 

 Mr Ananda Kathiravelu 89,663,346 5.01% 

e. Distribution of Shareholders as at 22 August 2018. 

 Category (size of holding) Total Holders Number 

Ordinary 

% Held of Issued 
Ordinary Capital  

 1 – 1,000 96 37,462 0.00 

 1,001 – 5,000 182 487,383 0.03 

 5,001 – 10,000 71 557,697 0.03 

 10,001 – 100,000 732 36,643,556 2.05 

 100,001 – and over 1,011 1,751,664,772 97.89 

 
 2,092 1,789,390,870 100.00 

f. Unmarketable Parcels as at 28 September 2018 

As at 22 August 2018 there were 975 fully paid ordinary shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares. 

g. On-Market Buy-Back 

There is no current on-market buy-back. 

h. Restricted Securities 

The Company has following restricted securities: 

 10,700,000 fully paid ordinary shares restricted from sale for 1 year from date of issue pursuant to the terms of 

the Incentive Option Plan approved by shareholders on 10 April 2017.  
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Additional Information for Listed Public Companies 
 

i. 20 Largest Shareholders — Ordinary Shares as at as at 22 August 2018 

 Rank Name Number of Ordinary 
Fully Paid Shares Held 

% Held of Issued Ordinary 
Capital 

 1.  Sunset Capital Management Pty Ltd <Sunset Superfund A/C> 141,000,000 7.88 

 2.  Mr Ananda Kathiravelu 60,203,383 3.36 

 3.  Mr Gavin Jeremy Dunhill 60,000,000 3.35 

 4.  JDK Nominees Pty Ltd <Kenny Capital A/C> 50,500,000 2.82 

 5.  Jamber Investments Pty Ltd <The Amber Schwarz Fam A/C> 50,000,000 2.79 

 6.  Mr Nathan Ryan Wagner 37,974,667 2.12 

 7.  Carrisa Pty Ltd <Sam Minniti Family A/C> 33,477,767 1.87 

 8.  Mr Jonathon Barry Miller 28,710,516 1.60 

 9.  Mr Kobi Ben Shabath 23,750,000 1.33 

 10.  Sarodan Pty Ltd <Sarodan Family A/C> 22,621,936 1.26 

 11.  Mr Andrew David Wilson + Mrs Jillian Gae Wilson <Wilson Family A/C> 22,500,000 1.26 

 12.  Global Megacorp Pty Ltd 22,254,470 1.24 

 13.  CS Fourth Nominees Pty Limited <Hsbc Cust Nom Au Ltd 11 A/C> 19,944,100 1.11 

 14.  Rimoyne Pty Ltd 17,500,000 0.98 

 15.  Montjord Investments Pty Ltd <Montjord Family A/C> 17,061,726 0.95 

 16.  Sandton Capital Pty Ltd 17,000,000 0.95 

 17.  Pathways Capital Pty Ltd <Wheeler Super Fund A/C> 15,000,000 0.84 

 18.  Mr John Ceccon + Ms Maria Lynn Mclean <MCCM Super Fund A/C> 15,000,000 0.84 

 19.  Mr Keith Stuart Liddell + Mrs Shelagh Jane Liddell 14,300,001 0.80 

 20.  Simon Nominees Pty Ltd <H S Majteles Super Fund A/C> 12,739,856 0.71 

  TOTAL 681,538,422 38.06 

2 The Company Secretary is Damon Sweeny 

3 Principal registered office 

As disclosed in Note 2 Company details on page 30 of this Annual Report. 

4 Registers of securities  

As disclosed in the Corporate directory on page i of this Annual Report. 

5 Stock exchange listing 

Quotation has been granted for all the ordinary shares of the Company on all Member Exchanges of the Australian 
Securities Exchange Limited, As disclosed in the Corporate directory on page i of this Annual Report. 

6 Use of funds 

The Company has used its funds in accordance with its initial business objectives. 



 

 

 


